
DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY 
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 

WASHINGTON, D . C . 20224 

WHISTLEBLOWER OFFICE 

Dear Mr. Phillips: 

February 16, 2012 

We received your Form 211 and it has been assigned the following claim numbers: 

• 2012-002866 {Jardine} 
• 2012-002867 {Lahka} 
• 2012-002868 {Saucier} 

The information you provided will be evaluated to determine if an investigation is 
warranted and an award is appropriate. Although we may need to contact you to 
discuss the information submitted, we can not tell you specific details about what 
actions we will be taking, if any, using the information you gave us. Internal Revenue 
Code Section 6103 protects the tax information of all ta;<payers and prevents us from 
making these disclosures. At the conclusion of the review and investigation, we will 
only be able to tell you whether or not the information you provided met our criteria 
for paying an award. 

Should you have any questions, Whistleblower Office analyst Cindy Stuart has been 
assigned to your claim and can be reached at (631) 447-4862. 

CC: 
Cindy Stuart 

Sincerely, 

C. Arnold 
Management and Program Analyst 
Whistleblower Office 



WHISTLEBLOWER OFFICE 

DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY 
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 

WASHINGTON, DC 20224 

January 25, 2012 

Re: Claim Number: 2010-006673 and 2010-006674 

Dear Mr. Phillips: 

I am responding to your correspondence dated December 22, 2011 regarding the status of your 
claim. 

The claim for award under Section 7623 is still open and under active consideration. We are 
unable to provide any specific information due to (Section 6103 of the Internal Revenue Code) 
Federal Disclosure and privacy laws that protect tax information for all taxpayers. There are a 
number of actions that must be completed before a determination is made. 

We will notify you as soon as all actions relating to your claim have been completed. If you change 
your address, please let us know. 

If you have any further questions in regards to this letter, please contact Cindy Stuart, Management 
Analyst at 631-447-4862. 

Sin.cerely 

c!Yl-ub~ul--
cindy Stuart 
Management Analyst 
Office of Whistleblower Programs 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. Kyle en Elisabeth Cane ("Cane"), formerly known as Michael Cane, was born 
October 22, 1954, with social security number 569-96-1463, is a partner with 
the law firm Cane Clark, LLP and owner of Cane Clark Productions, located at 
3273 E. Warm Springs Road, Las Vegas, Nevada 89120. Her office phone is (702) 
312-6255, her cellular phone is (702) 595-8005, her email address is 
kcane@caneclark.com and she resides in Calabasas, CA. Cane is an U.S. 
taxpayer. 

2. Jaunita Mary Jardine ("Jardine"), also known as (aka) "Jan Mary Wallace", 
"Jardin Wallace". "Sarah Blair", "Joan Reardon" and other pseudonyms, uses 
social security numbers "000-99-000", "938-29-1149", "124-00-000", "765-14-
7593", "449-03-3083", among others. Jardine has previously resided at 6929 E. 
Cheney Dr., Paradise Valley, Arizona. Jardine has dual citizenship in Canada 
and purportedly in the Cayman Islands. She has been working in the United 
States without a visa while representing that she is a resident alien and an 
u.s. taxpayer. 

3. Jardine (under the pseudonym Jan· Wallace) until recently, was the Chief 
Executive Officer, President and a Director of Davi Skin, Inc. ("Davi Skin"), 
formerly MW Medical, Inc. ("MW Medical"), a thinly-capital;Lzed, publicly
traded cosmetics company located either in 11990 San Vicente Blvd., Suite 300, 
Los Angeles, CA 90049 or 4223 Glencoe Avenue, Suite 130, Marina Del Rey, 
California. Jardine (under the aforementioned pseudonym Wallace) is also 
president of Wallace Black Financial Services ("Wallace Black"), a consulting 
company that purportedly assists firms with raising equity capital. Until 
January 17, 2008, Jardine also served as President, CEO, and a Director of 
Securied Diversified Investments, Ltd. ("SDI"), a small publicly-traded 
company. Cane is the registered agent, corporate securities attorney, and at 
all times orchestrated and directed orders to Jardine during the events 
described herein. 

4. Amin (aka "Andy") and Afshan Lahka ("Lahka") are partners and directors of 
Lahka Investments, LLC. Lahka Investments is located at 500 108th Avenue NE, 
Ste. 2050, Bellevue, WA 98004, office number (425) 454-3448. Lahka is also a 
member of Western Investment Partners, LLC, formed by Cane and Jardine. The 
Lahkas are residents of Bellevue, Washington, and their nationalities are 
unknown. 

5. Robert B. Saucier ("Saucier") manages Carpathia Associates, LLC 
("Carpathia"), Trifalger Investments, and Galaxy Gaming, Inc. ("Galaxy 
Gaming") all operating at 6980 W 0 1 Bannon Dr., Las Vegas, Nevada 89117. 
According to the lawsuit "Sherron Associates Loan Fund v. Robert Saucier, et 
al.," Case No C06-226JLP (see Exhibit "A" 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 34364) "the 
court concludes that Mr. Saucier is domiciled in Washington [State]." However, 
Saucier testified he had "no residential address," although admitting he is 
staying in Las Vegas and "live[s] somewhat of a vagabond life." Saucier has 
been attempting to gain Canadian citizenship. Saucier is a U.S. Citizen and 
U.S. taxpayer. 
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6. Cane, Jardine, Lahka and Saucier (the "Cane Group") use offshore bank and 
securities accounts, as well as several offshore corporate entities, to trade 
unregistered securities, conceal their true assets and to hide trading profits 
from "pump and dump" schemes and other questionable activities. 

7. Although the exact amounts at issue are unknown, the Cane Group has made 
extensive sales of unregistered stocks and hidden substantial assets abroad, 
totaling in the millions of dollars. Upon information and belief, the Cane 
Group has not reported these assets or accounts to the Internal Revenue 
Service nor has it reported the income generated from these accounts and 
questionable activities. 

8. Jardine has testified that she was "surprised" that the IRS has no record 
of her ever filing taxes, at least from the social security numbers she 
provided during interviews with IRS agents (see "United States v. Mark E. 
Phillips, 11 Case No CR10-269-JCC ,. Trial Record herein referred to as TR, see 
Exhibit "B" TR 2/22/11 page 105-112). Jardine used social security number 449-
03-3083 belonging to deceased individual Ron L. Scruggs to apply for credit at 
Bank of America and Saks Fifth Avenue in 2002. Jardine routinely uses the 
identities (including social security numbers, addresses, and online 
credentials) of living and deceased persons for her fraud schemes. 

9. Based on a Davi Skin Active Shareholder Report dated July 13, 2007 (issued 
by Davi Skin's transfer agent, Pacific Stock Transfer Company) (see Exhibit 
"C"), the four largest unrestricted connnon stock positions in Davi Skin were 
held by Arch Ltd., Heburn Holdings Ltd., Sunshine Ltd., and The Chloe Group of 
Companies (Chloe is the name of Jardine's daughter) totalling 2,295,388 shares 
or 573~847 per account. All four of these companies are owned and/or 
controlled by the Cane Group and all four use the same address registration: 
The LOM Building, 27 Reid St., Hamilton, Bermuda. (Another large Davi Skin 
shareholder, Artist House Holdings, Inc., based in Japan, sued Davi Skin and 
its principals in 2006 for securities fraud. According to a Form 8-K filed 
with the SEC by Davi Skin on July 9, 2008 and signed by Ms. Wallace [Jardine], 
the lawsuit was settled for $650,000.) 

10. Lahka owned at least 200,000 of Davi Skin stock in the Hepburn Holdings, 
Ltd. LOM account (see Exhibit "D"). 

11. In addition, Cane through Legal Access Technology, issued on August 31, 
2004, 2,341,279 shares which represents approximately the amount of indirectly 
owned shares in Davi Skin through CEDE & CO, a Depository Trust Company (see 
Exhibit "E" section 2). Cane's Legal Access Technology shares held in CEDE & 
CO totalling 2, 249,825 (see Exhibit "E" section 1) and the aforementioned LOM 
nominee companies total the vast majority of free trading stock in Davi Skin. 

12. Cane was interviewed by Assistant United States Attorneys ("AUSAs") 
Matthew Diggs and Arvind Swaminathan, Internal Revenue Agent Benjamin George, 
United States Postal Inspection Services (USPIS) Inspector Amy Kerkof, and 
Special Agent Spencer Walker of the FBI. Agent Walker recorded: 
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"In 1989 Telelawyer was formed. Telelawyer went through a "reverse 
merger" with Dynamic Associates, which was a public company. After the 
reverse merger CANE became a director. CANE defined reverse merger as 
"when a private company takes over a public company." Dynamic Associates 
later changed its name to Legal Access Technologies. Legal Access 
Technologies was eventually taken over by public company [MW Medical]. As 
a result, CANE was removed as a director. Cane nevP.r sold any shares that 
she owned of Legal Acces!'l Technologies. CANE believes she still owns a 
sm_~!_! .?~~;_ 9i. ~tos.~ in Legal Access Technologies (emphasis added)." 

13. Cane's statement in her interview directly conflicts with the published 
statement of ownership with the SEC in 2004. Cane's registration stating she 
has a controlling ownership interest in Legal Access Technologies is far more 
than a "small amount of stock" and contradicts her statement to the 
investigators. 

14. The LOM Building is owned and occupied by LOM Holdings, a Bermuda-based 
parent company of a group of financial services companies founded by brothers 
Brian Lines and Scott Lines. "LOM," or "Lines Overseas Management," the Lines 
brothers and LOM Holdings are currently being sued by the SEC for engaging in 
illegal "pump and dump" penny stock scams. The complaint against them was 
filed in 2007 in the U.S. District Court of New York. The recommendation for 
disgorgement and case summary are provided (see Exhibit "F" "SEC v. Lines et 
al.," 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91360). (Cane Clark LLP currently controls Sedona 
Software cited in "SEC v. Lines et al.," 2011 u.s. Dist. LEXIS 91354.) In 
addition to providing offshore brokerage services and administrative services 
for corporate nominees, the LOM group also provides offshore banking services 
(see http://www.lom.com). 

15. Jardine routinely wired funds to LOM Securities in Bermuda and the Cayman 
Islands as payment for administration of her corporate entities Arch Ltd., 
Sunshine Ltd., Hepburn Holdings, Ltd., and The Chloe Group of Companies (see 
Exhibit "F"). Jardine has wired funds to LOM from acC'.ount:s at JP Morgan Chase, 
and HSBC Bank USA~ to accounts at The Bank of Bermuda, Limited (account number 
1010-956504) and Bank of NT Butterfield (Bermuda)(account number 
20.006.840.351501.100) (see Exhibit "G"). The Cane Group has also used and 
controlled a firm named Bridge Street Services and Stone Bridge Services, 
Limited to facilitate some of these transactions (see Exhibit "G"). 

16. Cane through Legal Access Technologies transferred 1,400,000 of its shares 
to Saucier and Carpathia Associates, LLC in April 2006. 

17. The scheme of the Cane Group is quite simple. After materially false 
information touting the merger and prospects for the new company is 
disseminated to the investing public (the "pump" phase), the Cane Group then 
causes their offshore corporate entities (such as Arch Ltd., Hepburn Holdings 
Ltd., Sunshine Ltd., and The Chloe Group of Companies) to sell the 
unregistered free-trading shares of the new company at the a-r:-tificially-
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inflated price (the "dump11 phase). The Cane Group pockets substantial profits 
on the Aale of the stock, and in turn avoids paying capital gains on the sales 
as the shares that are sold by offshore entities with all proceeds being 
retained in offshore accounts. By using the offshore entities~ the Cane Group 
is ahle to hide its true ownership interest and keep the number of 
unregistered stocks, and thereby the unreported profits, in excess of the 
levels allowed by law. 

18. By her own admission under oath, Jardine (under the aforementioned alias 
Jan Wallace), has been sued at leaAt six or seven times for fraud or similar 
malfeasance with respect to her roles in various public companies. In one such 
case, 11Thomas & Wong General Contractor, Inc. v. Blume Law Firm, et al., 
Superior Court of Arizona (Maricopa County), CV No 2005~051325, Mr. Edward 
Tarapaski testified under oath that Wallace [Jardine] maintains offshore bank 
accounts. Cane was Jardine's attorney in that matter. Jardine, under oath, 
admitted to owning Hepburn Holdings Ltd. in Bermuda (see Exhibit 11B11 TR 
2/22/11 page 113 line 11). 

19. The Cane Group uses these offshore entities to acquire control of defunct, 
publicly-traded corporate shells. These shell entities are then sold to a 
private company that is the target acquisition. In what is termed as a 
11reverse merger, 11 a stock swap allows the Cane Group, through the shell 
company, to control the target company. Jardine has a long-standing 
relationship with Cane and her law firm, which has handled a large number of 
corporate entity purchaseR and thinly-capitalized, reverse-merger 
transactions. Upon information and belief, Jardine, Cane, Lahka and Saucier 
have conspired with others in their 11 punip and dump 11 activities, including: 
Scott Doney, another partner at Cane Clark, LLP; Devi Johal, Kevin Gunther, 
employees of LOM Holdings; Mujit Johal and Grace Sims, chief finacial 
officers; Claire Ambrosia, Jardine's personal attorney and Chloe Jardine
Cutler, her daughter. These individuals may have additional offshore banking 
and brokerage arrangements similar to the Cane Group which would be used to 
conceal their activities. 

20. Another such 11pump and dump" scheme executed by the Cane Group involves a 
company called SDI. Cane and Jardine caused 15,000,000 shares of SDI stock to 
be issued to Iomega Investments, Wallace Black, LLC and Western Investment 
Partners in February 2006. The shares were issued and placed in an offshore 
brokerage account. Cane and Jardine bankrupted the SDI corporation by 
manipulating the stock and depleting the assets, leaving only the shell 
corporation. Then they need the shell corporation reverse merger to take over 
another corporation, Galaxy Gaming, by a reverse merger, leaving the new 
company controlled by Saucier. 

21. At the same time, unregistered stock of Galaxy Gaming is being sold to the 
public by members of the Cane Group allowing the Cane Group to pocket 
substantial profits on the sale of stock, avoid paying capital gains on the 
sales as the shares which are sold by offshore entities, and retaining the 
proceeds in offshore accounts. 
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22. Mark Edward Phillips, the whistle blower in this action, discovered the 
above information by researching and examining public databases, using and 
designing processing software, and pursuing an investigation of the "fraud" 
associated with one of the companies controlled by Cane and Jardine as part of 
their "pump and dump" schemes. . 





LEGAL ANALYSIS 

1. Based on the facts outlined above and upon information and belief, the 
Cane Group is in violation of two primary set of rules administered by the 
IRS with respect to assets and transactions in foreign jurisdictions: (1) the 
foreign bank account reporting regime under 31 U.S.C. § 5314 and the 
regulations promulgated thereunder (commonly referred to as the "FBAR" 
requirements), and (2) the anti-deferral regime of subpart F of the Internal 
Revenue Code. These violations have resulted and continue to result in the 
material underreporting and fraudulent concealment of the Cane Group's income 
and assets and render the Cane Group subject to civil penalties and interest, 
as described below. 

2. Although Ms. Jardine is a citizen of Canada and possibly the Cayman 
Islands, she is a legal resident of the United States, and as such, is a 
"United States person" for federal income tax purposes and therefore subject 
to U.S. taxation on her worldwide income. Messrs. Cane, Lahka and Saucier are 
U.S. citizens and legal residents of the United States and also considered 
"United States person" for federal income tax purposes and also, subject to 
U.S. taxation on their worldwide income. See I.R.C. § 7701(a)(30). 

3. Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 5314 and 31 C.F.R § 103.24, "[e]ach person subject 
to the jurisdicti'on of the United States ••• having a financial interest in, or 
signature authority or other authority over, a bank, securities or financial 
account in a foreign country shall report such relationship to the [IRS] for 
each year in which such relationship exists ••• " These provisions require that 
a Form TD F 90-22.1, Report of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts (FBAR) be 
filed if the aggregate balances of such foreign accounts exceed $10,000 at 
any time during the year. As the Cane Group is subject to the jurisdiction of 
the United States, and upon information and belief has not disclosed the 
existence' of substantial assets held in accounts with Bermudan and Cayman 
Island banks, the Cane Group is in clear violation of 31 U.S.C. § 5134. 

4. Accordingly, pursuant to 31 C.F.R. § 103.57(g)(2), Ms. Jardine and Mssrs. 
Cane, Lahka and Saucier are subject to a penalty of up to $100,000 for each 
violation (i.e., each failure to report a foreign account each year in which 
such account held more than $10,000 in assets). 

5. Furthermore, I.R.C. § 951 requires that U.S. shareholders of controlled 
foreign corporations ("CFCs") include, on a current basis, their pro rata 
share of all subpart F income earned by the CFC in which they hold interest. 
A "U.S. shareholder" for purposes of subpart F is a 10% or greater 
stakeholder in a foreign company. A company is a CFC if it is held more than 
50% by U.S. shareholders. Upon information and belief, the Cane Group 
corporate nominees managed by LOM Securities are held exclusively by Ms. 
Jardine, Mssrs. Cane, Lahka, and Saucier by themselves and their immediate 
family members, and as such qualify as CFCs. Under I.R.C. § 954(a)(l), 
includes all foreign personal holding company income. Section 954(c) defines 
foreign personal holding company income as, inter alia, dividends, interest, 



and gains from the sale of property such as stock or other capital assets. 
Accordingly, subpart F requires that the Cane Group include in their gross 
income all investment income and capital gains earned by each offshore 
entities. Upon information and belief, their failure to do so constitutes a 
violation of subpart F and is evidence of a willful attempt to evade their 
U.S. federal income tax obligations. 

6. As a consequence of the violations described above, the Cane Group is 
subject to penalties and interest, in addition to the taxes due and owing. At 
a minimum, the Cane Group is subject to the I. R. C. § 6662 penalty for 
negligence or disregard of rules and regulations and/or substantial 
understatement of income tax, which imposes a penalty of 20% of the 
understatement attributed to ·the penalized conduct. Furthermore, the Cane 
Group may be subject to the civil fraud penalty of section 6663, which 
imposes a penalty of 75% of the understatement of tax liability due to fraud. 
The section 6663 penalty requires a showing of intent "to evade taxes known 
to be due and owing by conduct intended to conceal, mislead, or otherwise 
[to] prevent the collection of taxes, [where] there is an underpayment of 
tax." Nelon v. Commissioner; T.C. Memo. 1997-49. The Cane Group's failure to 
disclose offshore accounts and the use of offshore entities to conceal their 
trading activities strongly suggests an intent on Ms. Jardine and Mssrs. 
Cane, Lahka and Saucier's part to defraud the IRS, in addition to concealing 
their illegal securities activities. Finally, the Cane Group is also subject 
to interest on back taxes and penalties at a rate of 3% plue the short-term 
federal rate. I.R.C. § 662l(a)(2). Interest began to accrue on the due dates 
of the returns for which there were understatements of tax liabilities. 
I.R.C. § 6601(~)(2)(B). 
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EXHIBIT "A" 

SHERRON ASSOCIATES LOAN FUND V, LLC, Plaintiff, v. ROBERT SAUCIER; GALAXY GAMING 
CORP.; GALAXY GAMING, LLC (NEVADA); GALAXY GAMING OF NEVADA, LLC; GALAXY 
GAMING, LLC (NEW MEXICO); GALAXY GAMING OF BRITISH COLUMBIA, LLC; GALAXY 

GAMING OF CALIFORNIA, LLC; GALAXY GAMING OF NEW MEXICO, LLC; GALAXY GAMING OF 
OREGON, LLC; GALAXY GAMING OF WASHINGTON, LLC, Defendants. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON 
2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 34364 

NO. C06-226JLR 
April12, 2006, Decided 

April 12, 2006, Flied 

Counsel For Sherron Associates Loan Fund V, a Washington limited liability 
company, Plaintiff: Britenae M.C. Pierce, Kevin Arnold Bay, RYAN SWANSON & 
CLEVELAND, SEATTLE, WA. 

For Galaxy Gaming Corporation, a Washington Corporation, 
Galaxy Gaming LLC, a Nevada limited liabilty, Galaxy Gaming of Nevada LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company, Galaxy Gaming LLC, a New Mexico limited liability company, 
Galaxy Gaming of British Columbia, LLC, a New Mexico limited liability company, Galaxy 
Gaming of California LLC, a New Mexico limited liability company, Galaxy Gaming of New 
Mexico LLC, a New Mexico limited liability company, Galaxy Gaming of Oregon LLC, a 
New Mexico limited liability company, Galaxy Gaming of Washington LLC, a New Mexico 
limited liability company, Defendant: Joan K Mell, MILLER QUINLAN & AUTER PS INC, 
FIRCREST, WA. 

Judges: JAMES L. ROBART, United States District Judge. 

Opinion 

Opinion by: JAMES L. ROBART 

Opinion 

ORDER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This matter comes before the court in the wake of Defendants' removal of this action from King 
County Superior Court. Plaintiff Sherron Associates Loan Fund V, LLC ("Sherron") moves to remand 
this action (Dkt. # 22). Defendants move to dismiss this action (Dkt. # 2), or in the alternative to 
transfer it to the United States District Court for the District of Nevada (Dkt. # 1 ). Having considered 
each motion, the parties' briefing, and their supporting documentation, the court GRANTS Sherron's 
motion to remand. 

II. BACKGROUND 

Sherron filed the underlying state court action to establish that the Defendant corporate entities were 
the alter ego of Defendant Robert Saucier. In 1998, the Spokane County Superior Court entered a 
judgment (the "Spokane judgment") for Sherron against Mr. Saucier. Sherron has been unable to 
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collect the judgment, and contends that it should be able to pierce the corporate veil shrouding the 
entity Defendants in order to hold them jointly and severally liable under the Spokane judgment. 

Unfortunately, the court cannot resolve the instant motions without reciting additional details. The 
court cautions the reader that the details resemble the prologue to a particularly sadistic civil 
procedure professor's final exam question, except that they are not hypothetical. The court will clarify 
the details as necessary in its later analysis. 

Sherron, a non-existent Washington Plaintiff, sued Galaxy Gaming Corporation ("Galaxy of 
Washington"), a non-existent Washington defendant, in King County Superior Court. Preceding 
Galaxy of Washington in the galaxy of Defendants is Defendant Robert Saucier, a man who exists 
but does not live anywhere. Joining them is Defendant Galaxy Gaming Corporation of Washington, 
LLC, an entity incorporated in New Mexico (naturally). Defendants Galaxy Gaming Corporation of 
Oregon, LLC and Galaxy Gaming Corporation of California, LLC are also New Mexico entities. 
Defendant Galaxy Gaming Corporation of British Columbia, LLC gives the galaxy of Defendants an 
exotic flair, even though it is also a New Mexico entity. Defendant Galaxy Gaming Corporation of 
New Mexico, LLC is incorporated in New Mexico as well. Galaxy Gaming of Nevada, LLC has 
escaped New Mexico and is incorporated in Nevada along with Galaxy Gaming, LLC ("Galaxy of 
Nevada"). 

In the state court action, Sherron tried to serve its complaint on the whole galaxy of Defendants. It 
had no success using traditional methods of service, so it attempted to serve the Defendants by 
publication. Although the action was pending in Washington state court, it appears that Sherron did 
not follow Washington law in serving the Defendants by publication. It also appears that they did not 
serve Mr. Saucier by any means. Nevertheless, Sherron moved for a default judgment and the state 
court awarded one. Upon receiving notice of Sherron's writ of garnishment to collect on the default 
judgment, the entity Defendants filed a notice of removal, and now ask this court to void the default 
judgment, or, in the alternative, to transfer Sherron and the galaxy of Defendants to federal court in 
Nevada. Sherron contends that this court has no subject matter jurisdiction, and that Defendants 
removed too late. Defendants argue that this court has no personal jurisdiction over them, and that 
they removed in time. 

Ill. ANALYSIS 

Unfortunately, the events recited above did not happen a long time ago in a galaxy (or other forum) 
far, far, away. They happened in Washington, and it now falls to the court to decide whether the 
galaxy of Defendants can proceed in this federal forum. 

The court begins by determining whether Defendants properly removed this action. With exceptions 
not applicable here, a defendant may remove any state court civil action that could have been 
brought in federal court. See 28 U.S.C. § 1441 . If the federal court lacks subject matter jurisdiction 
over the action, remand is mandatory. In addition to establishing federal jurisdiction, a defendant 
must comply with the procedure for removal set forth in 28 U.S.C. § 1446. In any event, a court must 
"strictly construe the removal statute against removal jurisdiction," and must reject jurisdiction "if 
there is any doubt as to the right of removal in the first instance." Gaus v. Miles, Inc., 980 F.2d 564, 
566 (9th Cir. 1992). The defendant "always has the burden of establishing that removal is proper." /d. 
Where the plaintiff challenges removal, the defendant may not rest on the allegations of his notice of 
removal, and must meet his burden by a preponderance of evidence. /d. at 566-67; see a/so 
Sanchez v. Monumental Life Ins. Co., 102 F.3d 398, 404 (9th Cir. 1996) (clarifying that the Gaus 
court imposed a preponderance of evidence standard). 

A. Diversity Jurisdiction 
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Defendants concede that the only potential basis for this court's subject matter jurisdiction is diversity 
of citizenship. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332. Defendants must therefore show that none of them is a citizen 
of the same state as Sherron. For purposes of diversity jurisdiction, a corporation is a citizen of any 
state where it is incorporated and any state where it has its principal place of business. 28 U.S.C. § 
1332(c)(1 ). A limited liability company, however, is a citizen of every state of which its members are 
citizens. Johnson v. Columbia Props. Anchorage, LP, 437 F.3d 894, 899 (9th Cir. 2006). An 
individual is a citizen of the state of her domicile, which is the state in which she has permanent 
home, where she resides with the intention to remain or to which she intends to return. Kanter v. 
Warner-Lambert Co., 265 F.3d 853, 857 (9th Cir. 2001). 

1. Citizenship of Plaintiff 

Establishing the citizenship of Sherron and the Defendants is no simple matter. First, as Sherron 
admits, Sherron does not exist. In 2002, the Washington Secretary of State accepted a certificate of 
cancellation of the Sherron limited liability company. Sherron contends that the cancellation was 
improper, and that it is petitioning Washington officials to retroactively rescind the cancellation. 
Nonetheless, at present and at all times relevant to this action, Sherron, the sole Plaintiff, is and was 
a legal nullity. Sherron provides uncontroverted evidence, however, that if Sherron does not exist, 
then ownership of the judgment passed to Sherron Associates, Incorporated ("Sherron Associates"), 
a former member of the Sherron limited liability company. Armstrong Decl. P 7 & Ex. A. 1 Sherron 
Associates is apparently a going concern. See id. PP 1-8. Neither party, however, has bothered to 
reveal where Sherron Associates is incorporated, or where its principal place of business is. The 
court notes that the record contains a 2002 letter from Sherron Associates bearing Bellevue, 
Washington letterhead. /d. Ex. A. Both parties treat the Plaintiff in this case (whether it is Sherron, 
Sherron Associates, or some other person or entity with the right to enforce the Spokane judgment) 
as a citizen of Washington. The court will adopt the same approach. The court will therefore refer to 
the Plaintiff as Sherron and assume that Sherron is a citizen of Washington for purposes of 
determining diversity jurisdiction. The King County judgment belongs to whoever owns the Spokane 
judgment, and any error in naming the owner does not affect the court's jurisdictional analysis. 

2. Citizenship of the Corporate Defendants 

The parties concede that most of the Defendants are not citizens of Washington, but Sherron insists 
that Galaxy of Washington and Mr. Saucier are Washington citizens. Galaxy of Washington, 
however, does not exist. There is no evidence that it ever existed, at least as a Washington entity. 
Although Sherron brought this action against "Galaxy Gaming Corporation, a Washington 
corporation," it provides no evidence of the ·existence of such a corporation, and has remained 
suspiciously silent in response to Defendants' allegation that no such Washington entity exists. There 
is also no evidence that Galaxy of Washington's principal place of business is in Washington. For 
purposes of assessing diversity jurisdiction, therefore, the court assumes that Galaxy of Washington, 
if it exists at all, is not now and has never been a citizen of Washington. 

3. Citizenship of Mr. Saucier 

The parties concede that Mr. Saucier exists. 2 The court must now decide where he is domiciled. An 
individual's domicile is the state in which he is or was physically present, and in which he intends to 
remain or return. Kanter, 265 F.3d at 857. Mr. Saucier has not lived in Washington for seven years. 
Saucier Decl. P 13. It is undisputed, however, that in 1998 Mr. Saucier owned a home in Spokane 
and resided there. Saucier Depo. at 28:25-29:4. It seems unlikely that Mr. Saucier intends to return 
to Washington. Not only has he been absent for seven years, but he testified that at one point he was 
attempting to gain Canadian citizenship. Saucier Depo. at 17. 

lyicases 3 

© 20 II Matthew Bender & Company, Inc., a member of the LexisNexis Group. All rights reserved. Use of this product is subject to the restrictions 

and terms and conditions ofthe Matthew Bender Master Agreement. 



Because Mr. Saucier apparently does not seek to return to Washington, one might expect that he 
has acquired a new domicile. A person acquires a new domicile when he is simultaneously physically 
present in a state and intends to remain there indefinitely. Lew v. Moss, 797 F.2d 747, 750 (9th Cir. 
1986). Mr. Saucier does not contend that he has acquired a new domicile. In a declaration 
accompanying Defendants' notice of removal, he avers that he has not lived in Washington for 
seven years, but does not explain where he has lived. over that period. Saucier Decl. P 13. In a July 
2004 deposition, he testified that he had "no residential address," Saucier Depo. at 9:21, and that he 
does not consider any place to be his home. /d. at 27:25. He admitted to staying at a Las Vegas 
address when he was in that city, id. at 10:4-6, but he maintained that he "live(s] somewhat of a 
vagabond life." /d. at 57:11-12. He does not aver that he has lived in any place since 1998 with an 
intent to remain there. 

The court's inquiry does not end with Mr. Saucier's failure to expressly contend that he has acquired 
a new domicile. A court may consider a number of factors in determining an individual's domicile, 
including his "current residence, voting registration and voting practices, location of personal and real 
property, location of brokerage and bank accounts, location of spouse and family, membership in 
unions and other organizations, place of employment or other business, driver's license and 
automobile registration, and payment of taxes." Lew, 797 F.2d at 750. To the extent that the record 
contains evidence relevant to these factors, it shows that Mr. Saucier has not acquired a new 
domicile since 1998. He is unmarried. Saucier Depo. at 29:21-24. He has no checking account or 
credit card. /d. at 57:8-9, 57:14. He has no accounts of any kind in the United States. /d. at 71:7-16, 
72:17-24. He does not own a car. /d. at 59:11-23. As of 2004, his only income came from playing 
poker. /d. at 60:20-21. 

On these facts, the court concludes that Mr. Saucier is domiciled in Washington. A person retains his 
previous domicile until he acquires a new one. Lew, 797 F.2d at 750. The record before the court 
does not permit the conclusion that Mr. Saucier has been physically present (after he left Spokane in 
1998) in a state other than Washington with intent to remain there. Mr. Saucier bears the burden of 
proving that he is domiciled in a state other than Washington by a preponderance of evidence, and 
he has not done so. · 

Defendants have not established complete diversity between them and Sherron. The court therefore 
lacks subject matter jurisdiction over this action. 

B. Sherron's Request for Attorneys' Fees 

Under 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c), a court remanding an action to state court "may require payment of just 
costs and any actual expenses, including attorney fees, incurred as a result of the removal." As the 
word "may" suggests, the court's decision to make such an award is discretionary. Martin v. Franklin 
Capital Corp., 546 U.S. 132, 126 S. Ct. 704,711, 163 L. Ed. 2d 547 (2005). Generally, a court "may 
award attorney's fees under§ 1447(c) only where the removing party lacked an objectively 
reasonable basis for seeking removal." /d. Here, the court finds that Defendants had no reasonable 
basis for seeking removal. Had they conducted reasonable legal research, they would have 
discovered that Mr. Saucier had an obligation to prove that he was domiciled outside Washington. 
Instead, they unreasonably relied on Mr. Saucier's evasive refusal to admit to being domiciled 
anywhere, which led to this court's decision to remand. Moreover, Defendants littered their 
responsive brief with unsupported accusations of Sherron's fraudulent conduct, and filed a motion to 
strike and a surreply that were improper under this court's local rules. Local Rules W .D. Wash. CR 
7(g). Defendants used their surreply to misstate the court's local rules regarding briefing schedules, 
see Local Rules W.O. Wash CR 7(d), and to wrongly suggest that Ninth Circuit rules governing 
citation to its unpublished opinions somehow apply to "unpublished" district court orders. 
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The court could award fees to Sherron, but it declines to do so because it does not wish to reward 
Sherron's conduct in seeking remand. Sherron continued to call Galaxy of Washington a Washington 
defendant when it had no facts supporting that assertion. Sherron's briefing in support of its motion to 
remand failed to identify case law that would assist the court in determining Mr. Saucier's domicile. 
Finally, Sherron ignored this court's local rules by providing an improper surreply to Defendants' 
improper surreply to its motion to remand. Under these circumstances, the court finds an award of 
costs and fees inappropriate. See Martin, 126 S. Ct. at 711 (noting that "district courts retain 
discretion to consider whether unusual circumstances warrant" a denial of attorneys' fees). The court 
expects better advocacy from both parties. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the court GRANTS Sherron's motion to remand (Dkt. # 22). The clerk 
shall remand this action to King County Superior Court. 

The court's disposition of this matter makes it unnecessary to consider Sherron's contention that 
Defendants' notice of removal was untimely, as well as the Defendants' additional motions. If any 
Defendant attempts to remove the underlying action again, the Defendant must clearly designate the 
newly removed action as related to this one. 

Dated this 12th day of April, 2006. 

JAMES L. ROBART 

United States District Judge 

Footnotes 

1 

Defendants have moved to strike the declaration of Thomas Armstrong, an officer of Sherron 
Associates (Dkt. # 28). The court denies the motion because it violates the court's local rules 
regarding motions to strike. Local Rules W.O. Wash. CR 7(g). Even if the motion were proper, the 
court would not need to reach it. Defendants assert that the non-existence of Sherron is a sufficient 
basis to void the King County judgment. The court cannot reach that assertion, however, unless it 
has subject matter jurisdiction over this action. 
2 

That Defendants apparently never served Mr. Saucier in the underlying state court action is 
unimportant. A removing defendant must show that all defendants, served and unserved, are citizens 
of a different state than all plaintiffs. Clarence E. Morris, Inc. v. Vitek, 412 F .2d 117 4, 1176 (9th Cir. 
1969). 
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EXHiBIT "B" 
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UN:ITED STATI!lS DISTRIC'l' COURT 
WESTERN DISTRIC'l' OF IIASBINGTON 

IN SEATTLB 

UNJ:TED STA!l.'ES OF AMZRICA, 

Plaintiff, 

MARK E. PHILLIPS, 

D.t!andant. 

No. CR10-269JCC 

TlUAL 

BIUI'OU TilE BONORABLJ: JOHN C • COUGBENOUR 
UNITED STATI!lS DISTRIC'l' JUDGE 

APPEARANCI!:S : 

Aravind Swaminathan 
Matth- Di99s 

February 22, 2011 

Aasistant United States Attorneys 
RapraoaE1tinq the Plaintiff 

Pate: Nair 
John Du Wors 
Attorneys at Law 
Rapraaentinq tha ~endant 

1.------Bu'"ry L. Fanning, .RHR, ClfR - Official Court Reporter-----.J 
Suite 17205- 700 Stewart St - Sa.!lttle , HA 98101 
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A. I had overs••• manaqement account., ya• . 

Q , J\nd did you hava o ffa.bora account s i.n B<ol:lllUda? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So you had European accounts, and you had B-=uda 

account•? 

A. OVers-• for me is considered I quaas what you call 

offshore. 

Q. And w. haven't s..n any of those acc;:ount recorda in 

th.ia trial? 

A. No. 

Q. What is your complete laqal. nama at prasant? 

A. Jan Mary Wallace. 

Q. Do you aver go by Janat lfallaoe? 

A . No. 

Q. Do you aver go by Jan Micha•l Wallace? 

A. No. 

18 Q. What ill the ccaplata name on your birth cartific.ti.ta? 

19 A. Jaunita Mary Jardine. 

20 Q. Ia that apel.led J-U-A-N-I-T-A, your first nama? 

21 A. No. 

22 Q. Bow do you spell your first nama? 

23 A. J-A-U-N-I-T-A. 

24 Q. ilhan did Jauni ta bec:c>uo Jan? 

25 A. ilhen- .,_ to C&l>ada. Ther• was a typo, and they 

'------O..LJ.Ji' L . Panning, RMR, CRR - Ofrlclal Court Reporter-----....J 
Su~te 17205 - 100 Stewart St - Seattl@, NA 98101 
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A. Mark had askad me, ya•. 

Q. He was ki.nd of waal thy, in your eyas, and very smart? 

A. I falt that Mark Phillips had monay, and I thought him 

to be smart, yas. 

Q. And thE1 you intended to mov. in with him at tha 

Moslar condo? 

A. That wu Mark's ida&. I naver agraed. to that. 

Q. So you naver told the I!'BI that you and he were 

i.ntE1dinq to liv. together at the Moalaz:? 

10 A. He wanted me to live with him at the Mealer. I didn't 

11 do that. 

12 Q. I know you didn't do it, but you intandad to do it at 

13 IICIIII&I point, didn't you? 

14 A. If thi.nga had workad out, maybe - woul.d have lived 

15 together. I don't know if that is the place I woul.d have 

16 andad up picltinq. 

17 Q. Coul.d I have 270 (B)? You ware asked a aeriea of 

18 quaationa about your paraonal bank account? 

19 A. Yaa. 

20 Q. And they war• shown how you axpendad money, at cetera, 

21 in theae bank account&? 

22 A. Yaa. 

23 Q. Wall that your only bank account at the time? 

24 A. I baliav. ao. 

25 Q. Did you have offshore accounts, for axampla, in 

'-----... IIU'.f}' L. Fanning, RHR, CRR - O:fflclal court lt~pc:tctBr----~ 
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didn' t racogrU.za that for my nama, Jauni ta, so thay wrote 

it as Jaunita. 

Q. ilhan did Juanita bacolul Jan? 

A. I think i.n the '60a. 

Q. Waa it a lagal nama chang.? 

A. I'm aorry. I'm cobfuaad. Could you r-t the 

queation? 

Q. Yaa. Did you lagally chan!J8 your birth nama to Jan at 

SCIIII&I poi.nt in time? 

10 A. No. 

11 Q. You ju11t adopted anothar name? 

12 A. My father, becaus• my nama wa11 Juanita, always 

13 raferrad to me a11 Jan. 

14 Q. Now, you ram..t>er introducing youraalf to attorney 

15 James Smyth aa Joanne Raardon? 

16 A. Coul.d you say the quastion again? 

17 Q. Yas. According to Mr. Smyth, whE1 he first mat you, 

18 you introducad yourself not u Jan Mary Wallace, or 

19 Jaunita, or Jan Jardine, or anyth.inq else, you introduced 

20 youra•lf as another person, Joanne Reardon. 

21 A. I don't racall tha nama I usad. 

22 Q. Do you racall how you came up with a fictitious nama? 

23 A. No. No. 

24 Q. You juat grabbed ona? 

25 A. I might hav. had the TV on. I just r-t>er that I 

'------Diu"l1" L. Fanning, RMR, CRR - Offici.Jl Court Reporter ------' 
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1 didn't want to laave a mAaaaqa with my n..,.. on it. 

2 Q. so you qave a falaa nama? 

3 A . raa. 

4 Q. Do you r~ introducill<;l' yourself! aa Sarah Blair to 

5 Adrian Linhart, a mala ownax of! the PR fJ.:ca that 

6 repraaentad Klll? 

7 A. Yaa. 

B Q. So where did you coma up with the ~ Sarah Blair? 

9 A. It was an a-mail that &ric Lundval.l , had =aatad f!or .,. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

on Mark Phillip•' computer. 

Q. So you walk up to a padactly stran1J8 buainasswoman, 

and a busJ.naaaman, and you pretend to ba Sarah !Uair, sa I 

riqht? I.....,, you had a .,..till<;i' with th-? 

A. I had a .... tinq rith th-, yea. 

Q. And that whole .,..tinq you raf!arred to yourself as 

Sarah Blair? Not Jan Mary Wallace, not Jan Jardine, but 

Sarah Blair? 

lB A. res. 

19 Q. And you pretended. to work for a local &ll<;i'Bl investment 

20 firm called The Chiafa; ia that riqht? 

21 A. That's incorrect. 

22 Q. Who did you pretend to work for? 

23 

24 

2 5 

2 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

l7 

19 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A. I clidn' t pretand for work f!or anybody. I waa 

repraaentinq Michaal Gool.t>y f!or a ccapany called Luparu 

(Phonetic) . 

'------8•& ~"")' L. E'annlng, RHR, CRR - Offlclal Court Jl'~po :n;er------' 
SuJt:a 17205 - 100 Ste wart St. -Seattle, H'A 98101 

Q. Wall, your Canadian SOcial Sacuri ty number looks 

r.Darkahly li.lr:a a United. Stataa Social Security number, 

bacau .. i it has the • .,.. number of diqita, right? 

A. Ya•. 
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Q. But that particular nl.llllbar, if you look up who ia on 

the other and of that, that COIDall back to your birth nam., 

doean' t it, Jauni ta Mary Jardine? 

A. I'm sorry. I sa a little confused.. 

Q. The lUUUI that attachaa to your C&n&Q.J.an Social 

Security number ia your birth nama, not your adul.t nama? 

A. The number on my social inaurance number card is in my 

lll&id8n ruaae, yea . 

Q. Did you ever tall the FBI it waa your nama on your 

birth caxtificata? 

A . I'm sorry. Could you repeat that? 

Q. Yea. Do you r-ear bainq interviewed by aqanta of 

the FBI , and ....t>ara of the qovarn~Unt attorney• haxe? 

A . Yea. 

Q. And you ware interviewed. first, I baliava, on 

March 25th, 2010? 

A . Yaa. 

Q . Ancl than you ware aqaiD -teneively intarviawad. riqht 

baf!ora this trial, on February 13th, 2011? 

A. Yea. 

Q . Ancl than you ware interviewed durinq the course of the 

'------S.rrr L. E'annlnq, RHR, CR~ - Oftlcl.Jl Court Reporter------' 
Sultet 17205 - ?00 Stew•rt St - Seutle, HA 98101 

Q. And how many other occaaiona have you uaad a 

fictitious ~ in claalinq with atranqara? 

A . It ia not a habit. 

lOB 

Q. Tha quaation waa, on how many other oceaaiona have you 

dona thia? 

A. I can' t think of! any. 

Q. So you have dona it twice in your life, and- juat 

happened to find out about that? 

A. Yea. 

10 Q. Now, you ware livinq during 2007/2008 in Arizona, and 

ll worltinq in the United. Stataa, right? 

12 A . Yaa. 

13 Q , And at that ~ you didn't haWI a work viaa up in 

14 canada? 

15 A. Yea. 

16 Q, So you could ba cl8portad. It doaan't matter, north or 

17 aouth of the border, you have to have a work visa? 

19 A. Yea. 

19 Q. So you are aubjact to d.portation during thoaa two 

20 yu.ra. And you havw a united. Stataa Social Security 

21 number, ri'Jht? 

22 A. Yea . 

23 Q. Did you ev.r uaa the United. Stataa Social Security 

24 number? 

25 A. I bali.,. my tax firm did. 

'------lt.ur)' L. Fa nning, RHR, C.RR - OfflcJal Court ll~~tport•r-----.J 
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trial for the third ~. am I right? 

A. Yea. 

Q. And that waa on the 15th --

A. Yaa. 

Q. -- of thia month? So the quaation ia, on the 

intarvi- of J!'abruary 13th of thia year, at PaiJ8 19 of! the 

intarvi-, did you tall th- that 449030383 ia your 

the Amarican Social Security nl.llllbar, and, that number would 

10 corraapond to the ,_ Jaunita Jardine in Canada? 

ll A. Yea. 

12 Q. Ia that true? 

13 A. Yea. 

14 

15 

Q. So if you liat that number at a Salta Fifth Av.nua 

cradit, and they had a probl-, they would coma back and 

16 they wouldn't find you, they would -find Jaunita Jardine? 

17 A. I don't know . 

18 Q. And if they mistook that for a united. Stataa Social 

19 Security number, who knows who it would cc=a back to, 

20 riqht? 

21 A. I don't know . 

22 Q. llhy did you usa the number with Salta rifth Av.nua? 

23 A. Bacauae I opened thoaa accounta while I waa in Canada. 

24 Q. Now, you also uaad the nlllllbar 938-29-1149, correct? 

25 A. Yea . 

L------llarr'J' L. F't~nnlng, RHR., CRR - Oft"lclal Court lt9poctou - --- -J 
Suite 17205 - 700 Ste~tut st. -Seattle, NA 98101 
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11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1B 

Q. And you said that number, on ..-ry taz documant you 

ha,. .-..- filed, you usa that .. a taz idantif'ication 

numt..r? 

A. It eppaar11 on my 8anlt of' -.:ica profile •• a taz 

idantif'ication number, yaa. 

111 

Q. And did you t:.ll the IJovartllM!lt in an intarvi- that 

that number is on ..-ry taz document you have aver filed? 

A. It is on the do"'lllleelt:. f'rcm Bank of' -.:ica that haa 

to go with my tax f'iliniJ . 

Q . The a:l.mpla quaation is , did you tall th- that that 

tax m number ia on avery tax ~t you have .-...r 

filed? 

MR. SIIAMINII!riiAN: Objection, your Honor. Aaked 

and an.w.red . 

Tim COURT: ov.rruled. 

TilE WITNESS : I think, yaa, that documant and 

that number is with avery taz document I have filed. 

BY MR. Mllm: 

19 Q . Would it aurprisa you to know that tha IllS baa no 

2 0 

21 

22 

23 

24 

record of' thia aa a tax number? 

A. I don' t do my tazaa. I don' t know. 

Q. According to the ~t, they have no record of' 

thia number. 

A . Okay . 

25 Q. And your accountant. w.ran' t filing taz rat=. during 

.._ ____ _,,,ury L. Fo~~nnln9, RHR, CRR - Orfl(!l• l Court Reporter - -----' 
Suite J7205 - 100 Stewo~rt St . - Seattle, HA 98101 

A. No . 

Q. I a that a """"" that you aver 90 by, your campany? 

A . No. 

Q. Savannah Corporation? 

A . I have a corporation called Savannah, yea. 

Q. Hlf l'itnaaa? 

A. 

Q. 

That is a daf'unct corporation . 

That wa. youra? 

A. Yea. 

10 Q. Bow about B~ Bolding&? 

11 A. That ia a ~t account, yea. 

12 Q. And .m.r. is that? 

13 A. That ' a in .Bearuda. 

113 

14 Q . Now, I believe you ware asked and you gave testimony 

15 

16 

about tha civil juc:iglunt that -• looming around about tha 

time of 2007, 2009? 

17 A. Yea . 

1B Q . Whea did that civil suit c:aomanca, do you know? 

19 A. I c:an' t recall the exact data. 

20 Q. Year? 

21 A. I believe it wa. '09, wa. the law case. 

22 Q. And you W81lt to trial on it? 

23 A. Yaa . 

24 Q . And that waa concarninq a lien with Th.,.... ' Kong? 

25 A. Yea. 

L_-----Jiarr_y L Fannlnq, RH.R, CRR - Ofllc16l Court Reporter------' 
Sulte 17205 - 100 Stelt'o!lrt St. - Se.tttl•, WA 98101 

thaaa years bacauaa of' recorda prcbl-. ; h that right? 

A. I 'Ill. sorry? Could you say that again? 

Q. Your taz praparer waan' t filin9 inc0111a tax for you 

during thia period of' U.... - are talkinlf about bacauaa 

you had 110111a record prcbl..,.., or ha didn't have the 

racorda necessary, or 80111athi.ng like that? 

A. The firm, correct. The firm waa not filing. 
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Q. And I baliava that you have ta•tified that you aaked 

that the nama on that individual aarvica.• contract be 

10 changed to Jardine fraa Wallace? That waa your raqu .. t? 

11 A. Could you say that again? 

12 Q. Yea . on the Mateer contract, the individual aarvicaa 

13 contract, you raquaated. that the ,_ ba changed to 

14 Jardin• f'rca Wallace? 

15 A . I don't recall exactly. I llloilfht ha .... 

16 Q. !fall, I thought you axplained to tha jury earlier that 

17 thia -• bacauaa of ac::aa f&llloily truata in Buropa, that' a 

1B why you wanted it in tha nama of Jardine . In Buropa, you 

19 c:an aiqn Jardine u your lllo&idan ..-, et cetera? 

20 A. Y•a. 

21 Q. lfaan't that your taatimony earlier? 

22 A . I ' m sorry. I aa ~~&tting conf'uaed. But, yea. 

23 Q. Do you have an ownerahip interaat in Stonabri•? 

24 A . No . 

25 Q . Bow about Bobbi• Black? 

L..-----fJ• rcy L. f',Mn.l.ng, RHJf., CRR - Off1c1al Court Reporter------'~ ' 
suite 11:os - 700 Stew•rt St. - Se•ttle , WA 98101 

Q . And their United State• rap waa Edward Tarapaaki? 

A . '!as . 
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Q . And you mat hilllo when ha waa vacationing. in Arizona; h 

that right? 

10 

A. Ye•. 

Q. And you ware arranging for a bridqa loan for another 

entity for about $1.5 million? 

MR. SIIAMINII!riiAN: Objection . R.al.avanca • 

'l'llll: COURT : Overruled. 

'l'llll: WITNESS: '!aa . 

11 BY MR . HAIR: 

12 Q . And Ed Tarapaalti aaid ha could arranqa for thia bridge 

13 loan with ~ 'Woft9, which ia a Brunei corporation, aa 

14 long as it wu secured? 

15 MR. SIIAMINII!riiAN : Obj action, your Honor . Baaraay 

16 and aa to ralavanca. 

17 'l'llll: COURT: The objection aa to hear•ay ia 

1B sustained. 

19 BY MR. MIUR: 

20 Q. Did you malta r-s>r•aantationa to Mr . Tarapaaki that 

21 thar• would ba adequate collateral to secure that loan? 

22 A . No . 

23 Q. Did you lllo&ka raprasant:.tions to hila that you would 

24 look at tha collateral and malta aura it waa in place? 

25 A. I had aqraad for IIDV to go to a location to look at 

'------S•rr)l L rannJno, RHR, CRR - Oftlclal Court Repoct.sr----_J 
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0212511998 1089 No 

Total Shares 1 Total Certificates 

12120/2005 5210 2,909 R 1212012005 No 
·----

Total Shares 2,909 Total Cenllicates 
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DAVI SKIN 
Active Shareholder Report 
Common Stock as of 7/13/2007 

CUSIP NUMBER 238528 103 

S toct: H older 

ARCH L.?rp, . '* · . f f.JE .:LOM · a~ILOtNq 2,7_: REID 'STf.(~f 
HAMILTON. B£RMUOA'HM1.f 

PETER AROITA 

11 1 9 SAVOY DR 

MEL VILLE, NY 11747-5281 

ARTIST HOUSE HOLDINGS INC 

3F YUSHIN BLDG 3-27-11 SHIBUYA 

SHIBUYA-KU. TOKYO JAPAN 

SYLVIA ASCHER 

58 E S3RO ST APT 2-A 

NEW YORK. NY 10028·0000 

.ASL.AN DEVELOPMENT 

CfO DWYER SMITH LAW FIRM 8712 W. DODGE AD 
#400 

OMAHA, NE 66114 

AS LAN MORTGAGE 

2242 SO. 156 CIA 

OMAHA. NE 68130 

GENEVIEVE F. AUBRY 

; 6 EDGEWOOD RD 

PEEKSKILL, NV 10566-0000 

BANKHAUS H AUFHAEUSER 

470842538 

911749681 

!<AT KAPITALBERATUNG TOEL:ZERSTRASSE 23 

GENEVA. SWITZERLAND 82031 

CHRISTINE AZZARELLO 
& GREGORY AZZARELLO JTTEN 

339 SOUTH HOWARD 

PLAINFIELD, IL 60544 

GEORGE BALOGH 

17 SOUTH DR 

GREAT NECK. NY 11021 ·0000 

PACIRC STOCK TRANSFER COMPANY 

325443210 

Date 
Issued 

0212511998 

Cen No 

1214 

Total Shares 

04/04/2006 5231 

Total Shares 

02125/1 998 1 OS 7 

Total Shares 

12/01/2006 5276 

Total Shares 

12/01/2006 5274 

02/25/1998 1092 

Total Shares 

10/12/1999 1661 

10/12/1999 1662 
. - --
Total Shares 

05/15/2006 5233 

Total Shares 

02125/1998 1140 

To tal Shares 

No or Lost or 
Shares _ Sta)U$ Qate Re_r. l~-· S tQt~J! 

1 Total Certlllcales 

566,667 s 04/04/2006 
s·~ss-'-,66-:-7--T-o-ta"""I-Certlficates 

1 

1 

.3,333 
3,333 

2,600 

Total Certificates 

A 12/01/2006 

Total Certificates 

R 12/01/2006 

2,600 total Certificates 

Total Cenlllcates 

41 

41 

82 Total Cer11flcates 

BOO 
800 Total Cenlllcates 

No 

No 

1 

No 

No 

No 

No --, 

No 

No 
2 

No ---
1 

No 
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DAVI SKIN 
Active Shareholder Report 
Common Stock as of 7/13/2007 

CUSIP NUMBER 238528 103 

Sleek Holder 

ANTHONY S. HARRISON 

2900 OAK HILL LN 
MOUNT DORA. FL 32757·9525 

TRACEY HARROW 

202·1 0-4242 

1 HERON TERRACE CAMDEN AD CARSHAL TON 
VILlAGE 
SURREY, UK SM5 2NS 

HELEN HARVARD 

4020 PRATT AVE. 

BRONX. NY 10466·0000 

WILLIAM M. HEALEY JR 

255 SOUNDVIEW AVE. 

WHITE PlAINS, "'V 1 0606-0000 

FANNING M. HEARON, JR 

RUDOLF HEINZ 

NIEDENAU 82 

FRANKFURT AM, GERMANY 60325 

JOSEPH HEJNA 

254 PENNSYLVANIA ST. 

BUFFALO, NY 14201-0000 

HE~B\lftN 1-iQ~DI,.OS;t T.,-, 
THE LQ!\1 8UILOING.'Z1 REID.ST-AW i/ 
HAMILTON; BEAMU.QA tfM11 J 

FRAN HERRIDGE 

BOB HERRIDGE 

18 ORCHARD DR 

ARMONK. NY 10504-0000 

MARGEftY H. HERRMANN 

2202 THEALL AD 

RYE, NY 10580·1423 

PACIFIC STOCK TRANSFER COMPANY 

70286516 

Date 
Issued 

0212511998 

Cert No 

1135 

Total Shares 

11116/1999 1727 

Total Shares 

0212511998 1 077 

1\Jo ol Los I or 
Stlares Sta1Us Dale Restr Stolen 

5 

5 

No 

Total Certificates 

No 
::::--~--.-:-:---:---

Total Certllicales 

No --- --- --- - ----
Total Shares Total Cerllltcates 

0212511998 1107 

Total Shares Total Certllicates 

0212511998 1353 

Total Shares Total Certificates 

02/03/2000 1817 100 R 
Total Shares 100 Total Certificates 

02/25/1998 1250 

Total Shares Total Certificates 

Total CerliUC:iltu 

02125/1998 1079 ----------------Total Shares Total Certificates 

02/2511998 1095 

Total Shares Total Certificates 

No 
1 

No 
· - · 

1 

No 

No 

No 

No 
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DAVI SKIN 
Active Shareholder Report 
Common Stock as of 7/13/2007 

CUSIP NUMBER 238528 103 

Stock Holder 

STRATEGIC GROUP L TO 

SUITE 41/42 VICTORIA HOUS 26 MAIN STREET PO 
BOX 743 

COLLEEN SULLIVAN 

HENRY L SUMMERS 

1840 7TH AVE #5C 
NEW YORK, NY 1 0026-0000 

HERMAN SUNA 

75 NOBLE ST. 

L YNBAOOK, NY 11563-0000 

.SUNSHINI;L1D.:~:1 

THE:LOI.I:'B!41LDING.27:REID :STREET 
HAMIL1'0N/'B~RMUOA HM9 

GEORGE M. SWEETMAN 

34 MOASEMERE PLACE 

YONKERS, NY 10701-0000 

ANDREWTABBAT 

2218 THEALL ROAD 

RYE, NY 10850 

GUSTAHMIN 

48 FIELDCAEST RD. 

CRESlWOOD, NY 10707-0000 

MERCIAN I MAKOTO TAKEUCHI 

PETER P. TALLAAINE 

2286 CUSTOM VLG CT 

BELLMORE, NY 1171 0·0000 

PACIFIC STOCK TRANSFER COMPANY 

Dale 
Issued Cert No 

01/04/2000 1781 

Total Shares 

02125/1998 1 343 

Total Shares 

02/25/1998 1056 
Total Shares 

02/25/1998 1360 

Total Shares 

04Al312007 5312 

Tolil$tiam 

02/25/1998 1108 

Total Shares 

02/25/1998 1122 

Total Shares 

02/25/1998 1113 

Total Shares 

04/07/2005 5126 

Total Shares 

02/25/1998 1203 

Total Shares 

No ol Losl or 
Shares Status Date Restr Stolen 

461 

461 Total Certificates 

1 Total Certificates 

Total Certificates 

1 

1 Total Certificates 

573,8o47 
5~847- TotaJ.'c:trtlfhl8iea 

Total Certificates 

Total Certlllcates 

Total Certlncates 

10,000 s 04/07/2005 

10,000 Total Certlllcates 

Total Certificates 

No 

1 

No 

1 

No 

1 

No 

1 

No 1_, 

No 

1 

No 

1 

No 

1 

No 

1 

No 

1 

I 
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DAVI SKIN 
Active Shareholder Report 
Common Stock as of 7/13/2007 

CUSIP NUMBER 238528 103 

Stock Holder 

T AKAHIRO T ASHIO 

MICHAEL TEDESCO 
64 OLD TAPPAN RD. 

GLEN COVE. NY 1 1542·0000 

NORMAN L TESSIER 

ROAD 1 BOX 1 85 

SHAPON SPRINGS. NY 13459·0000 

nt~:Ci:ILOl G'R"OV.Pc .QF.COM~ANI~ 
~I;·LC~ ·aJ::IIJ .. OIN~·2V~EJ.D'Sr.R'EE1' 
H~~tt.T6N;• :e"Ef\MUO'.AAiQ11 1 

JULIUS THELMO 
62 LIVE OAK DR 
HOLBROOK. NY 11 741·0000 

A. THORSON 

551 MAIN ST. #W201 

NEW YORK, NY 1 0044..0000 

MICHAEL TIGHE 

333 URIBEST 

LAS VEGAS, NV 

DONALD A. TOY 
45 SUTTON PLACE S APT 1 <I 14 

NEW YORK, NY 10022·2444 

SARNA TRADING 

HOTTINGE'R STR 1 7 

ZURICH, SWITZERLAND CH-8032 

GEARY TRIGLETH 

2001 HEARTHSTONE DRIVE 

CARROLLTON, TX 75101 

PACIFIC STOCK TRANSFER COMPANY 

069-26·5497 

447560247 

Date 
Issued 

04/07(2005 

Cer1 No 

5124 
Total Shares 

02/2511998 1186 

Total Shares 

02/2511998 1240 --- -------
Total Shares 

OoriD3120'!lll $31 f 
- :'(otifshirit 

02/2511998 1210 

Total Shares 

02/2511998 1062 

Total Shares 

05/16/2005 5150 

08/1512005 5163 

Total Shares 

02/25f1998 1051 

Total Shares 

10112/1999 1698 

Total Shares 

08103/2004 5047 

Total Shares 

No ol Losl or 
Shares Stalus Date Restr Stolen 

317,895 S 04/07/2005 No 

317,895 Total Certificates 

No 
Total Certificates 1 

No 
Total Canlllcatea 1 

s~.~.t t'Jj'J 4 
~f, ffiii~Mikillt'J· , j 

No 

Total CertJIJcates 

No 

Total Certlllcates 

200 No 

300 R 08/15/2005 No 

500 Total Certificates 2 

No 
Total Cet11flcales 

73 No 
73 Tolal Certificates 

,25,000 R 08(03/2004 No - -
125,000 Total Certificates 1 
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UNITED STATES 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
Washington, DC 20549 

FORM 10-Q 

[X] Quarterly Report pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
For the quarterly period ended J lllle 30, 2008 

[ I Transition Report pursuant to 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
For the transition period to ___ _ 

Commission File Number: 001-14297 

Davi Skin, Inc. 
(Exact name of small business issuer as specified in its charter) 

Nevada 86-0907471 
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (IRS Employer Identification No.) 

11990 San Yiccnl(' Blvd, Sulle 300, Lo.~ Angeles, Ca lifornin 90049 
(Address of principal executive offices) 

310-82 7-0800 
(Issuer's telephone number) 

4223 Glencoe Avenue, Suite 130, Marina Del Rey, California 90292 
(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report) 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15( d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing 
requirements for the past 90 days. [x] Yes []No 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. 

Large accelerated filer [ ] Accelerated filer [ 1 
Non-accelerated filer [ ] (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company [x1 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). [ 1 Yes [x1 No 

Indicate the mnnber of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date. The number of shares of 
common stock, no par value, outstanding at August 18, 2008, was 51,473,668 shares. 

7111/2009 8:04PM 



daviskin_ l Oq-063008.htm http://www .sec.gov/ Archives/edgar/data/1059577/000 113709108000436 ... 

9 of 31 

DA VI SKIN, INC 
(Formerly MW Medical, Inc,) 

(A Development Stage Company) 
June 30, 2008 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Unaudited) 

In May, 2008, FASB issued SFAS No. 163, "Accounting for Financial Guarantee Insurance Contracts- an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 
60". Diversity exists in practice in accounting for financial guarantee insurance contracts by insurance enterprises under FASB Statement No. 60, 
Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises. That diversity results in inconsistencies in the recognition and measurement of claim liabilities 
because of differing views about when a loss has been incurred under FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. This Statement requires 
that an insurance enterprise recognize a claim liability prior to an event of default (insured event) when there is evidence that credit deterioration has 
occurred in an insured financial obligation. This Statement also clarifies how Statement 60 applies to financial guarantee insurance contracts, including 
the recognition and measurement to be used to account for premium revenue and claim liabilities. Those clarifications will increase comparability in 
financial reporting of financial guarantee insurance contracts by insurance enterprises. This Statement requires expanded disclosures about financial 
guarantee insurance contracts. The accounting and disclosure requirements of the Statement will improve the quality of information provided to users of 
financial statements. SFAS 163 will be effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods 
within those fiscal years; disclosure requirements in paragraphs 30(g) and 31 are effective for the first period (including interim periods) beginning 
after May 23, 2008. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 163 to have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements. 

4. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

We outsource a portion of our operational activities to companies with greater expertise in certain areas in order to keep our overhead expenditures to a 
minimum. Currently our payroll function is outsourced to an accounting firm with one of its partners being both a member of our Executive Advisory 
Board and a relative of an officer who is also a member of our Board of Directors. The Company was not required to make any payments for this 
service. 

5. NOTES PAYABLE 

On or about April I, 2008, the Company entered into a First Amended and Restated Agreement for Convertible Note with Amin S. Lakha ("Lakha"). 
The basic terms of the agreement are: The Parties entered into an Amended and Restated Secured Convertible Promissory Note in the amount of 
$536,163 due and payable on May 15, 2010; The Parties entered into an Amended and Restated Security Agreement, whereby all sums due under the 
Letter Agreement between the Company and Constellation Wines, U.S ., Inc. shall be assigned directly to Lakha until the Restated Convertible Note is 
fully extinguished and such funds shall be applied directly to the principal sum owe; In addition Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) shall be payable to 
Lakha as a full and complete release of any and all payments that may have been due to Lakha pursuant to the terms of the original Assignment 
Agreement; The Parties have entered into a restatement and replacement of the Stock Option Agreement and Stock Purchase Warrant Agreement, 
Company shall issue to Lakha 600,000 warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of$0.20 with an expiration date of May 14, 
2012 and 125,000 warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of$0.25 with an expiration date of May 14, 2012 and the Parties 
entered into a Rescission of Assignment and Security Agreement for the Gilchrist & Soames Agreement. 

On or about April 14, 2008 the Company entered into a First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement with Gisela Brinkhaus ("Brinkhaus'') the terms of 
which are: The Parties entered into an Amended and Restated Convertible Promissory Note in the principal amount of$100,000 and interest of 13% per 
annum, due and payable on January 14, 2009; The Parties entered into a restatement and complete replacement of the Original Warrants, Company shall 
issue Restated Warrants up to 300,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $.35 per share which shall expire on November 14, 20 I 0 . As 
consideration for the difference between the Debt and the principal amoLmt of the Restated Convertible Note the Company shall issue Brinkhaus 2, 
207,960 shares of common stock. Brinkhaus has released any and all collateral rights to Company's Inventory Collateral and the right to file any UCC-1 
Financing Statement in connection with the Inventory Collateral. In the Original Agreement, the Company pledged as a security against default all 
payments that may become due and owing to the Company under the Memorandum of Understanding between the Company and deSter N.V. , Brinkhaus 
shall retain these collateral rights and Lmder acknowledges that at this time no final agreement has been executed between deSter and the Company. 

On or about April 17, 2008 the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Noctua FLmd, LP ("Noctua"). Noclua purchased 250,000 
shares of Series A Preferred Stock par value $.00 I per share of the Company's Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $1.00 per share and Series A-I 
Warrants to purchase common stock, par value $0.001 of the Company at an exercise price of $.15 per share. Company as part of the transaction 
delivered a Registration of Rights Agreement, Stock Escrow Agreement and a Certificate of Designation. The Company's management 
issued Irrevocable Voting Proxy and Trust Agreements. Noctua has the right but not the obligation to acquire an additional 350,000 shares of Preferred 
Stock at the Purchase Price I isted above . Company granted a right of first otTer and registration rights to Noctua with respect to all transactions 
conswnmated within I 2 months of the Initial Closing of the sale of Preferred Stock. 

F-6 
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For the three month period ended June 30, 2008, we reported a net loss of$371 ,429 or $0.01 per share compared to a net loss of$942,916 or $0.06 per 
share for three months ended June 30, 2007 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

As ofJ une 30, 2008, our total current assets of$5 85,460 consisted of $5 32,073 of inventory, $2,73 7 of accounts receivable, and $28, I 02 of prepaid 
expenses. As of June 30, 2008, our total current liabilities of$691 ,256 consisted of$512,452 in accounts payable and accrued expenses, interest 
payable of$59,004, and a note payable of$1 00,000. We thus had negative working capital of$1 05,796 at June 30, 2008. 

Net cash used in operating activities was $258,815 for the six months ended June 30, 2008 compared to net cash used in operating activities of 
$841,424 for the six months ended June 30, 2007. Net cash flow provided by investing activities amounted to $7,342 for the six months ended June 30, 
2008 compared to net cash provided by investing activities of$758,705 for the six months ended June 30, 2007 . Net cash flow provided by financing 
activities amounted to $227,463 for the six month period ended June 30, 2008, compared to net cash used in financing activities of$117 ,281 for the six 
month period ended June 30, 2007. 

We wi 11 be dependent, for the immediate future, upon additional investment capital to fund operating expenses. 

In connection with our need for additional financing, we entered into an Agreement for Convertible Note with an unrelated third party, Mr. Amin S. 
Lakha, whereby Mr. Lakha is willing to provide, subject to the terms and conditions of the Agreement for Convertible Note and accompanying 
documents (the "Agreement"), certain financing for our ongoing and proposed business operations and activities. The Agreement provides for a 9% 
Senior Secured Convertible Note (the "Note") in the stated amount of$2,200,000. Interest is payable in six month intervals and the note matures on May 
15, 20 I 0. The Note allows Mr. Lakha to convert a part or all of the outstanding balance under the Note into shares of our common stock at a conversion 
price of$0.55 per share, which is subject to adjustment in the event of certain dilutive issuances, including stock dividends and reorganizations. As 
part of this agreement the Company received $500,000 during 2007. 

On or about April I , 2008, the Company entered into a First Amended and Restated Agreement for Convertible Note with Amin S. Lakha ("Lakha"). 
The basic terms of the agreement are: The Parties entered into an Amended and Restated Secured Convertible Promissory Note in the amount of 
$536,163 due and payable on May 15, 2010 ; The Parties entered into an Amended and Restated Security Agreement, whereby all sums due under the 
Letter Agreement between the Company and Constellation Wines, U.S., Inc. shall be assigned directly to Lakha until the Restated Convertible Note is 
fully extinguished and such funds shall be applied directly to the principal sum owed; In addition Ten Thousand Dollars ($1 0,000) shall be payable to 
Lakha as a full and complete release of any and all payments that may have been due to Lakha pursuant to the terms of the original Assignment 
Agreement; The Parties have entered into a restatement and replacement of the Stock Option Agreement and Stock Purchase Warrant Agreement, 
Company shall issue to Lakha 600,000 warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of$0.20 with an expiration date of May 14, 
2012 and 125,000 warrants to purchase shares ofCoiTliTlon Stock at an exercise price of$0.25 with an expiration date of May 14, 2012 and the Parties 
entered into a Rescission of Assignment and Security Agreement for the Gilchrist & Soames Agreernent. 

14 
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SIGNATURES 

In accordance with the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by 
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

Dated: August 19, 2008 

Davi Skin, Inc. 

By: Is/ Jan Wallace 
Jan Wallace 
Chief Executive Officer and Director 

7/11/2009 8:04 PI\ 



EXHIBIT 11E11 

Issued shares from DAVI prior to reverse merger MW Medical 
accumulating to 2,249,825 (50% total volume) LOM Securities comprise 
of the other 50% free trading volume 
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EXHIBIT "F" 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, Plaintiff, -against- BRIAN N. LINES, et al., 
Defendants, 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
2011 U.S. Dlst. LEXIS 91360 

07 Clv. 11387 (DLC)(DF) 
June 7, 2011, Decided 

June 7, 2011, Filed 

Editorial Information: Subsequent History 

Adopted by, in part SEC v. Lines, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91354 (S.D.N.Y., Aug. 16, 2011) 

Editorial Information: Prior History 
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TO THE HONORABLE DENISE L. COTE, U.S.D.J.: 

In this case, plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") has asserted claims for 
securities violations against defendants Brian M. Lines, Scott G.S. Lines, LOM (Holdings) Ltd., Lines 
Overseas Management, Ltd., LOM Capital Ltd., LOM Securities (Bermuda) Ltd., LOM Securities 
(Cayman) Ltd., LOM Securities (Bahamas) Ltd., Anthony W. Wile, Wayne E. Wile, Phillip James 
Curtis ("Curtis), William Todd Peever ("Peever"), Robert J. Chapman ("Chapman"), and Ryan Leeds 
(collectively, "Defendants"). On August 28, 2008, the Court entered consent judgments against Curtis 
and Peever, requiring these defendants to pay disgorgement, prejudgment interest, and civil 
penalties in an amount to be determined upon motion of the SEC. (Dkts. 33, 34.) After Chapman 
failed to answer or otherwise respond to the Complaint, the Court entered a default judgment against 
him on June 18, 2010, requiring Chapman, as well, to pay disgorgement, prejudgment interest, and 
civil penalties in an amount to be determined upon motion of the SEC. (Dkt. 193.) 1 

On January 14, 2011, the SEC moved for an order imposing specific disgorgement, prejudgment 
interest, and civil penalties against Curtis and Peever, and specific civil penalties against Chapman. 
(Dkt. 231.) The Court then referred the motion to me for a report and recommendation. (Dkt. 235.) 
On February 4, 2011, I ordered the SEC to serve on Curtis, Peever, and Chapman a copy of its 
filings in support of its pending motion. (See Dkt. 236.) Although service was apparently made on 
these defendants (see Certificate of Service, dated Feb. 9, 2011 (Dkt. 237)), to date, none has filed a 
response to any of the SEC's submissions or contacted my chambers to request a hearing. 

For the reasons that follow, I recommend that (1) Curtis and Peever be ordered to disgorge their 
ill-gotten gains in the amount of $2,480,072.40, plus pre-judgment interest, on a joint and several 
basis; and (2) civil penalties be imposed against Curtis, Peever, and Chapman in the amount of 
$120,000 each. 

BACKGROUND 

In the Complaint, the SEC claims that Curtis, Peever, and Chapman committed violations of the 
registration, beneficial ownership report, and antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws, 
including violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") and 
Rule 1 Ob-5 promulgated thereunder, and that Curtis and Peever committed violations of Sections 5 
and 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"), and Section 13( d)( 1) of the Exchange Act 
and Rule 13d-1 (a) promulgated thereunder. (See Complaint, dated Dec. 19, 2007 (Dkt. 1) 
("Complaint" or "Campi.").) 2 In particular, the SEC alleges two separate- but similar- fraudulent 
schemes, both occurring between 2002 and mid-2003, to manipulate the stock prices of SHEP 
Technologies, Inc. ("SHEP") and Sedona Sofware Solutions, Inc. ("Sedona"), two publicly traded 
companies quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board. (/d. at~ 1.) 

A. Manipulation of SHEP Stock by Curtis and Peever 

The SEC alleges that Curtis and Peever participated in a fraudulent scheme to manipulate that stock 
price of SHEP. According to the SEC, in January 2002, Curtis and Peever, using nominee 
companies and signature directors, secretly acquired a majority of the outstanding shares of Inside 
Holdings Inc. ("I HI"), a publicly traded entity. (/d. at~~ 145-53.) The SEC alleges that Curtis and 
Peever each paid half of the approximately $400,000 purchase price. (/d. at~ 149.) The SEC further 
alleges that Curtis and Peever concealed their purchases of IHI shares, causing IHI to file several 
materially false and misleading reports with the SEC. (/d. at~~ 154-55.) Those reports allegedly 
created the false impression that Curtis and Peever's purchases were made by several independent 
entities and, thus, that no shareholder or group of shareholders had the power to control the 
company. (/d.) 
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In early 2002, SHEP - a private company that owned patents in the automotive field -was allegedly 
looking to acquire a publicly-traded shell company. (/d. at~ 156.) The SEC alleges that an affiliate of 
SHEP was introduced to Curtis and Peever. (/d.) The SEC further alleges that Curtis and Peever 
informed the SHEP affiliate about I HI, but concealed the fact that they controlled IHI, instead 
representing that they were third-party intermediaries between IHI and its owners. (/d. at~ 157.) 
According to the SEC, in May 2002, IHI agreed to enter into a reverse merger agreement with SHEP. 
(/d. at~ 158.) Curtis and Peever then allegedly convinced IHI to use the services of certain 
newsletters to tout the merger. (/d. at~ 159-60.) The IHI/SHEP reverse merger closed in September 
2002. (/d. at~ 162.) 

According to the SEC, by late December 2002, Curtis, Peever and co-defendants Brian and Scott 
Lines, who had both assisted Curtis and Peever with the purchase of SHEP, collectively (and 
secretly) owned about 80 percent of SHEP's tradeable shares. (/d. at~ 165.) The SEC alleges that, 
by early 2003, Peever and Curtis had negotiated with two publications to print bullish SHEP 
recommendations on numerous occasions, in exchange for monetary compensation and SHEP 
stock. (/d. at~~ 167-68.) The SEC further alleges the publications failed to disclose that SHEP's 
controlling shareholders were paying for the reports. (/d. at~~ 169-74.) The SEC contends that these 
reports initially led to so-called "naked" short selling, 3 which drove down the price and volume of 
sales of SHEP stock, but that Peever and Scott Lines successfully counteracted this, by buying up a 
number of shares, leaving the short sellers without sufficient shares to cover their sales. (/d. at~~ 
174-77.) 

The SEC claims that, between February and June 2003, Curtis and Peever sold almost three million 
shares of SHEP, yielding illegal proceeds of more than $3.1 million. (See Memorandum of Law in 
Support of Plaintiff Securities Exchange Commission's Motion for Supplemental Order Imposing 
Disgorgement, Prejudgment Interest and Civil Penalties Against Defendants Phillip James Curtis, 
William Todd Peever, and Robert J. Chapman, dated Jan. 14, 2011 (Dkt. 232) ("SEC Mem."), at 16.) 
Curtis and Peever allegedly failed to report their SHEP stock purchases and sales in SEC filings, as 
required by law. (Campi., at~ 11.) 

B. Chapman's Involvement In the Manipulation of Sedona Stock 

In a scheme involving the manipulation of the stock price for Sedona, the SEC alleges that certain of 
the Defendants facilitated a promotional campaign creating the false and misleading impression that 
Renaissance Mining Corporation ("Renaissance"), a newly-formed private company owned by 
defendant Anthony W. Wile, had already acquired three Central American gold mines and was the 
"leading gold producer in Latin America." (/d. at~ 3.) The conspirators allegedly acquired Sedona, a 
publicly traded shell company, in the names of offshore nominees, and merged Sedona with 
Renaissance. (/d.) The SEC claims that the conspirators then sold over 140,000 shares of 
Sedona/Renaissance stock at artificially inflated prices of between $9 and $10 per share. (/d. at~ 6.) 

According to the SEC, Chapman, the publisher of The International Forecaster, an online investment 
newsletter, disseminated false and misleading information, while secretly owning Renaissance 
shares. (/d. at~~ 83-84.) The SEC alleges that, as of October 2002, Chapman had purchased almost 
nine percent of Renaissance's outstanding stock at prices ranging from 25 cents to $1 per share. (/d. 
at~ 82.) The SEC alleges that, in November 2002, Chapman initiated coverage of Renaissance, 
describing Renaissance as "an incredible opportunity that could be the largest public offering in the 
United States for a mining company this year," but did not disclose his own financial interest in 
Renaissance. (/d. at~ 85.) The SEC further alleges that, on January 19, 2003, Chapman distributed 
a report, which falsely claimed that (1) the then-current price of Sedona stock was $10, when the 
stock had actually last traded at three cents; (2) Renaissance had acquired Central American mining 
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assets; (3) Renaissance stock was publicly available for purchase; and (4) Renaissance stock could 
eventually reach $62 per share. (/d. at 1f1f 88-89.) The SEC asserts that, in the report, Chapman 
falsely claimed to be an "independent mining analyst," and yet again failed to disclose his ownership 
interest in Renaissance. (/d. at 1f 89.) 

According to the SEC, on January 21, 2003, the Sedona stock opened at $8.10 per share and closed 
at over $9 per share, with over 300,000 shares sold. (/d. at 1f 117.) At that time, Sedona allegedly 
had no assets, revenues or operations. (/d.) On January 29, 2003, the SEC suspended trading in 
Sedona's stock. (/d., 1f 129.) The SEC contends that, because of the trading suspension, Chapman 
was unable to convert his Renaissance holdings into publicly-traded shares and, therefore, did not 
earn any illegal proceeds from his participation in the Sedona scheme. (SEC Mem., at 4.) 

DISCUSSION 

I. APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARDS 

In conducting an inquest, the Court accepts as true all of the factual allegations of the Complaint, 
except those relating to damages. Au Bon Pain Corp. v. Artect, Inc., 653 F.2d 61, 65 (2d Cir. 1981). 
A plaintiff must therefore substantiate a claim with evidence to prove the extent of damages. See 
Trehan v. Von Tarkanyi, 63 B.R. 1001, 1008 n.12 (S.D.N. Y. 1986) (plaintiff must introduce evidence 
to prove damages suffered and the court will then determine whether the relief flows from the facts) 
(citing Flaks v. Koegel, 504 F.2d 702, 707 (2d Cir. 1974)). Where a defaulting defendant has not 
made any submission on a damages inquest, the Court must assess whether the plaintiff has 
provided a sufficient basis for the Court to determine damages. See Transatl. Marine Claims Agency, 
Inc. v. Ace Shipping Corp., 109 F .3d 105, 111 (2d Cir. 1997) (noting that the Court "should take the 
necessary steps to establish damages with reasonable certainty"). 

Although the Court may hold a hearing to assess the amount of damages (or disgorgement and civil 
penalties) that should be awarded on a default, see Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(b)(2) (court may conduct 
hearings on damages as necessary), the Second Circuit has consistently held that "[b]y its terms, 
[Rule] 55(b)(2) leaves the decision of whether a hearing is necessary to the discretion of the district 
court," Fustok v. Conticommodity Servs., Inc., 873 F.2d 38, 40 (2d Cir. 1989); accord Tamarin v. 
Adam Caterers, Inc., 13 F.3d 51, 54 (2d Cir. 1993) Uudges are given much discretion to determine 
whether an inquest need be held); Action S.A. v. Marc Rich & Co., 951 F.2d 504, 508 (2d Cir. 1991) 
(Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(b)(2) "allows but does not require ... a hearing"). Here, a hearing is unnecessary, 
as the documents before the Court provide a "sufficient basis from which to evaluate the fairness" of 
the disgorgement and civil penalties sought by the SEC, Fustok v. ContiCommodity Servs. Inc., 873 
F.2d 38, 40 (2d Cir. 1989); see also Marc Rich & Co., 951 F.2d at 508, and as Curtis, Peever, and 
Chapman have submitted nothing in response to the SEC's submissions, nor requested a hearing. 

II. DISGORGEMENT AWARD AGAINST CURTIS AND PEEVER 

The SEC seeks disgorgement from Curtis and Peever, on a joint and several basis, of $2,894,537.48 
in ill-gotten funds from their involvement in the SHEP scheme. (SEC Mem., at 16.) Disgorgement is 
an equitable remedy for violations of the federal securities laws, aimed at "forcing a defendant to 
give up the amount by which he was unjustly enriched." SEC v. Tome, 833 F.2d 1086, 1096 (2d Cir. 
1987). The Court has broad discretion in calculating the amount to be disgorged. See SEC v. First 
Jersey Sec., Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1474-75 (2d Cir. 1996). Although the disgorged amount must be 
"causally connected to the violation," id. at 1475, the SEC "is not required to trace every dollar of 
proceedings" or "to identify misappropriated monies which have been commingled." SEC v. 
Anticevic, No. 05 Civ. 6991(KMW), 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 83538, 2010 WL 3239421, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. 
Aug. 16, 2010) (internal quotation omitted). After the SEC makes a showing of the disgorgement 
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figure, the burden shifts to the defendant to demonstrate that the disgorgement figure is not a 
reasonable approximation. /d. In formulating a disgorgement remedy, the district court has discretion 
to impose "joint and several liability for combined profits on collaborating or closely related parties," 
so long as the total disgorgement amount does not exceed the total combined profits. S.E.C. v. 
AbsoluteFuture.com, 393 F.3d 94, 97 (2d Cir. 2004). Additionally, the court can award prejudgment 
interest on the amount awarded as disgorgement, in order to deprive the defendant of the time-value 
of the money. SEC v. Warde, 151 F.3d 42,50 (2d Cir. 1998). In SEC injunctive actions, prejudgment 
interest should be calculated by applying the Internal Revenue Service tax underpayment rate ("IRS 
rate"), as set forth in 26 U.S.C. § 6621(a)(2). See First Jersey Sees., 101 F.3d at 1476-77. 

In support of the requested disgorgement of funds from Curtis and Peever, the SEC has submitted a 
declaration by Robert W. Nesbitt ("Nesbit"), a Market Surveillance Specialist in the Office of Market 
Surveillance, Division of Enforcement of the SEC, setting forth in detail the SEC's calculation of the 
ill-gotten gains of Curtis and Peever, and providing documents underlying those calculations. 
(Declaration of Robert W. Nesbitt, dated Jan. 13, 2011 (Dkt. 233) ("Nesbit Decl. ").) As to Curtis, 
Nesbit states that, based on a tabulation of sales of SHEP shares in four accounts owned or 
controlled by Curtis- an account opened in Curtis's name (Ex. 3), an account in the name of the 
Curtis Family Trust, of which Curtis was the authorized trustee (Ex. 5), and two accounts that 
designated Curtis as the authorized signatory (Ex. 7, 9)- Curtis sold 1,638,450 shares of SHEP and 
generated $1,636,503.28 in proceeds between August 29, 2002 and June 10, 2003. (Nesbit Decl., at 
~11 7-12.) Nesbit also states that the cost basis for those shares was $78,645.60. (/d. at 11 13.) To 
calculate the overall cost basis, Nesbit tabulated the dollar amounts paid by Curtis in purchasing the 
SHEP shares traded in those four accounts, while assuming that the cost basis was zero for those 
SHEP shares for which there was no evidence of such payment by Curtis. (See id. at 1[1[13-23 
(relying on attached account records and acquisition agreements).) By subtracting the cost basis 
from the proceeds, Nesbit concludes that Curtis's ill-gotten gains from the scheme totaled 
$1,557,857.68. (/d. at 11 24.) 

With respect to Peever, Nesbit calculates that, between September 3, 2002 and June 18, 2003, 
Peever sold 1,327,350 shares of SHEP and obtained proceeds of $1 ,490,652.40, based on records 
from two brokerage accounts (an account opened in Peever's name (Ex. 17), and an account that 
designated Peever as the authorized signatory (Ex. 19)). (Nesbit Decl., at 1111 25-28.) Using the same 
methodology as described above with respect to Curtis, Nesbit calculated a cost basis of 
$153,972.60 for the SHEP shares sold by Peever. (See id. at 1111 29-37 (relying on attached account 
records and acquisition agreements).) Based on his calculations, Nesbit states that Peever's 
ill-gotten gains from the scheme totaled $1 ,336,679.80. (/d. at 11 38.) Thus, taken together, Curtis and 
Peever's total gains from the scheme were $2,894,537.48. 

Having reviewed the SEC's submitted records, this Court finds that they support Nesbitt's 
calculations. Moreover, the Court finds that joint and several liability for Curtis and Peever's joint 
profits is appropriate, as, based on the allegations in the Complaint as set forth above (see supra at 
3-5), Curtis and Peever collaborated to manipulate the price of SHEP stock. See 
AbsoluteFuture.com, 393 F.3d at 97. Accordingly, I recommend that the SEC be awarded 
disgorgement from Curtis and Peever of $2,894,537.48 in ill-gotten funds, plus prejudgment interest 
from June 23, 2003 based on the IRS rate, on a joint and several basis. 

Ill. CIVIL PENAL TIES AGAINST CURTIS. PEEVER. AND CHAPMAN 

The SEC also seeks civil penalties against Curtis and Peever, for their involvement in the SHEP 
scheme, and against Chapman, for his involvement in the Sedona scheme. Section 20(d) of the 
Securities Act and Section 21 (d)(3) of the Exchange Act permit a court to impose, upon a proper 
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showing, a civil penalty that falls under one of three "tiers," the third tier being for the most serious 
violations. To determine whether to impose a civil penalty and the amount of any penalty, the Court 
looks to a number of factors, including: "(1) the egregiousness of the defendant's conduct; (2) the 
degree of the defendant's scienter; (3) whether the defendant's conduct created substantial losses or 
the risk of substantial losses to other persons; (4) whether the defendant's conduct was isolated or 
recurrent; and (5) whether the penalty should be reduced due to the defendant's demonstrated 
current and future financial condition." SEC v. Aragon Capital Mgmt., LLC, 672 F. Supp. 2d 421, 447 
(S.D.N.Y.2009) (quoting SEC v. Ha/igiannis, 470 F.Supp.2d 373, 386 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (citation 
omitted)). 

The SEC requests the imposition of third-tier penalties on Curtis, Peever, and Chapman of $120,000 
each. (SEC Mem., at 18-20.) Third-tier penalties are appropriate where the court finds both that the 
defendant's actions involved "fraud, deceit, manipulation, or deliberate or reckless disregard of a 
regulatory requirement," and that the violations "resulted in substantial losses or created a significant 
risk of substantial losses to other persons." 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)(B)(iii). As the SEC explains, for 
violations of the securities laws committed during the time period at issue here (between 2002 and 
mid-2003), the maximum third-tier penalties against an individual defendant should not exceed the 
greater of $120,000 per violation, or the gross amount of the defendant's pecuniary gain. (See SEC 
Mem., at 20 (citing 17 C.F.R. §§ 201.1001,201.1003,201.1004 (providing for inflation-based 
adjustment to the statutory maximum amount of civil penalties under the Securities Act and the 
Exchange Act)) .) 

Accepting as established the SEC's allegations as set forth above, Curtis and Peever actively 
participated in an eight-month scheme to manipulate a publicly-traded stock. Among other 
misconduct, Curtis and Peaver intentionally concealed their ownership interest in SHEP. As a result 
of their repeated material misrepresentations and omissions, innocent purchasers of SHEP stock 
suffered material losses. Likewise, over the course of several months, Chapman knowingly (or, at 
the least, recklessly) made numerous misrepresentations and omissions in touting the value of 
Sedona stock, while consistently concealing his own financial interest in Renaissance. These 
misleading reports drove investor demand and artificially inflated trading of Sedona shares on 
January 23, 2003, to the benefit of other co-defendants and the detriment of unwitting purchasers of 
Sedona stock. Finally, this Court is not aware of any basis, arising from the financial condition of 
Curtis, Peaver or Chapman, to reduce the penalty against any of these defendants. For these 
reasons, I recommend that the Court grant the SEC's request to impose third-tier penalties against 
Curtis, Peever, and Chapman of $120,000 each. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, I respectfully recommend that SEC's motion (Dkt. 232) for a supplemental 
order imposing disgorgement, prejudgment interest and civil penalties against Curtis, Peever, and 
Chapman be granted. In particular, I recommend that the SEC be awarded (1) disgorgement from 
Curtis and Peever, on a joint and several basis, in the amount of $2,894,537.48, plus prejudgment 
interest from June 23, 2003 based on the IRS rate, as set out in 26 U.S.C. § 6621(a)(2); and (2) civil 
penalties against Curtis, Peever, and Chapman of $120,000 each. 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1) and Rule 72(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the parties 
shall have fourteen (14) days from service of this Report to file written objections. See also Fed. R. 
Civ. P. 6. Such objections, and any responses to objections, shall be filed with the Clerk of Court, 
with courtesy copies delivered to the chambers of the Honorable Denise L. Cote, United States 
Courthouse, 500 Pearl Street, Room 1040, New York, New York 10007, and to the chambers of the 
undersigned, United States Courthouse, 500 Pearl Street, Room 525, New York, New York, 10007. 
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Any requests for an extension of time for filing objections must be directed to Judge Cote. FAILURE 
TO FILE OBJECTIONS WITHIN FOURTEEN (14) DAYS WILL RESULT IN A WAIVER OF 
OBJECTIONS AND WILL PRECLUDE APPELLATE REVIEW. See Thomas v. Am, 474 U.S. 140, 
155, 106 S. Ct. 466, 88 L. Ed. 2d 435 (1985); IUE AFL-C/0 Pension Fund v. Herrmann, 9 F.3d 1049, 
1 054 (2d Cir. 1993); Frank v. Johnson, 968 F .2d 298, 300 (2d Cir. 1992); Wesolek v. Can adair Ltd., 
838 F.2d 55, 58 (2d Cir. 1988); McCarthy v. Manson, 714 F.2d 234, 237-38 (2d Cir. 1983). 

Dated: New York, New York 

June 7, 2011 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Debra Freeman 

DEBRA FREEMAN 

United States Magistrate Judge 

Footnotes 

1 

The Court entered final judgments against the other defendants on October 14, 2010. (Dkts. 216-25.) 
2 

"To state a claim under [Section]10(b) and the corresponding Rule 10b-5[b], a plaintiff must plead 
that the defendant, in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, made a materially false 
statement or omitted a material fact, with scienter, and that the plaintiffs reliance on the defendant's 
action caused injury to the plaintiff." Ganino v. Citizens Utils. Co., 228 F .3d 154, 161 (2d Cir. 2000). 
The same elements required to establish a section 10(b) and a Rule 10b-5 violation suffice to 
establish a violation under sections 17(a)(1 )-(3), with the exception that scienter is not required for 
the SEC to enjoin violations under subsections (a)(2) or (a)(3). SEC v. Monarch Funding Corp., 192 
F .3d 295, 308 (2d Cir. 1999). 

Section 5 of the Securities Act requires that all non-exempt securities offered for sale to the public be 
registered with the Commission prior to the offer or sale of such securities. See 15 U.S.C. § 77e; see 
also SEC v. Cavanagh, 445 F.3d 105, 111 (2d Cir.2006). To state a claim under Section 5, the SEC 
must show "(1) lack of a registration statement as to the subject securities; (2) the offer or sale of the 
securities; and (3) the use of interstate transportation or communication and the mails in connection 
with the offer or sale." /d. at 111 n. 13 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Scienter is not 
an element of a section 5 violation. See SEC v. Universal Exp., Inc., 475 F. Supp. 2d 412, 422 
(S.D.N.Y. 2007); SEC v. Softpoint, Inc., 958 F. Supp. 846, 859-60 (S.D.N.Y. 1997), aff'd, 159 F.3d 
1348 (2d Cir. 1998). A defendant may rebut the SEC's prima facie case for a Section 5 violation by 
proving the applicability of an exemption from registration. See Cavanagh, 445 F .3d at 111 n. 13; 
Universal Exp., 475 F. Supp. 2d at 422. 
3 

"Executing a short sale in a security without first borrowing that security is known as 'naked' short 
selling." S.E.C. v. Lyon, 529 F. Supp. 2d 444, 448 n.1 (S.D.N.Y. 2008). 
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UNITED ~TATES D~TRI.CT COURT· 
SOUTHERN DIS11UCT OF NEW YORK 

SECURITffiS AND EXCHANGE COMMISSI<;>N, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

BRIANN. LINES~ 
SCOIT;G. S. LINES; 
LOM (HOLDINGS) LTD.; 
LINES OVERSEAS MANAGEMENT LTD.; 
LOM CAPITAL LTD.; 
LOM SECURITIES (BERMUDA) LID.; 
LOM SECURITIES (CAYlv.IAN) LTD.; 
LOM SECURITIES (BAHAMAS) LTD.; 

· AN1HONY W. WILE; 
WAYNE B. WILE; 
ROBERT J. CHAPMAN; 
WILLIAM TODD PEEVER; 
PHILLIP JAMES CURTIS; AND 
RYAN G. LEEDS, 

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT 

Civil Action No. _____ _ 

·Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Conunis~on{the "Commission") alleges: 

SUMMARYOF ALLEGATIONS 

1. This action concerns two separate, but sjmilar,. fraudulent schemes to manipulate.. 

the-:stock prices oftwo 'microcap companies, Sedona Software Solutions, Inc. ("Se-dona'') and 

SHEP Technologies, Inc. ("SHEP"). During the relevant periods, Sedona and SHBP shares were· . . . 
quoted and traded on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board ("OTCBB"). The schemes took place 

in 2002 and 2003, and involved the substantial participation· of a Bermuda-based securities finn, 
. ' . ' 

- 1-



defendant LOM.(Holdings) Ltd. (''LOM Holdings"), two ofits managing principals, defendants 

Brian N. Lines and Scott G. Lines; and several of its subsidiari~s·: Lin~ Overseas Management 

Ltd. (''LOM Ltd."), LOM Capital Ltd: ("LOM Capital"), LOM Securities (Bermuda} Ltct 

("LOM Bermuda"), LOM Securities.(Bahamas) Ltd. ("LOM Bahamas''), and LOM Securities 

. (Cayman) Ltd .. ("LOM Cayman'') (collectively referenced herein as· "LOM" or the "LQM 

Entities'?· 

2. Both the Sedona and SHEP .friudulent schemes inyolved the 'Undisclosed· 

acquisition ofpuplicly-traded shell compames, the use ofLOM-controlled nominees to conceal 

beneficial ownership and control over Sedona and SHEP, the use of.paid toutez:s to promote 

Sedona and SHEP stock, and significant trading through the U.S. market in those stocks by 

defendants Brian Lines and Scott Lines, who are brothers. In the Sedona scheme, the Lines 

brothers' trading yielded approxjm~tely $1.5 million in illegal proce~ds. Jn the SHEP scheme, 

trading by the Lines brothers and two of their customers, defendants W .. Todd Pe~ver and P . 

.' James Curtis, yie~ded approximately $4.3.million in illegal proceeds. 

3. In the Sedona fraudulent scheme, defendant Aritbopy W. ~ile '("Wile" or "Tony 

Wile"), a Canadian 6tock promoter, -issued deceptive press releases and other promotional 

materials in early 2003 to cr~te the misleading impression that his newly-foniled private 

·:company, Renaissance Mining Cprporation, Inc. ("Renaissance"), had acquired certain Central 

American gold mines and was a leading gold producer. At the same t:i.me, as part of the ~cheme, 

defendants Brian and Scott-Lines had secretly acquired over ninety-nine percent ·of Sedona's 

outstanding shares through offshore nominees in order to merge the publicly-traded ,Sedona shell 

with Renaissance. Defendants Brian and Scott Lines also agreed to_.raise '$6 million for 

Renaissance thro~gh a private placement of Renaissance stock through LOM's ~vestment 
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·banking ann to enable Renaissance to acquire.the mines that it publicly claiined it already 

owned. 

4; Defendant Wile then primed the market for-Ren~ssance and Sedona shares by 

.disserri.inating materially false and misleading infonnation and orchestrating touting by defendant 

Robert 1. Chapman, a newsletter writer ·who also secretly owned Renaissance shares. Between 

January 17 and.January 21, 2003, at Wile's dir~ction, Renaissance issued press releases 

announcing a merger .of th~ two companies, when no such merger had taken place. During the 

same period, defendant Wile coord~ated .the issuance of reports by various newsletter writers· . 

touting the merger and telling the public that sbares of Sedona would open around $10 per sb~ 

on January 21. The pmpose of this materially false and misleading information was to convince 

poten~al investors that Renaissance bad already acquired the Central American mines, that the . . . 

mines were fully operational, and 'that a lucrative ·investment in Renaissance could be made by 

purchasing Sedona's shares on the OTCBB- even though Renaissance was not an operating 
. . 

mining compariy, owned no mines, and no merger with Sedona had taken place. 

5. On the morning of January 21, defendants Brian Lines, Scott Lines, Tony Wile," and 

defendant Wayne E. Wile ("Wayne Wile," Tony Wile's uncle) o~chestrated a manipulative stock 

transaction over the OTCBB in. which defendant::; Bria:n and Scott Lfues sold, and defendant 

Wayne Wile purchased, 5,~00 Sedona shares at $8.25 per shafe. At the .time these orders ~ere 

. placed, Sedona stock had last traded at $0.0;3 per share seven months earlier, in May 2002. 

6. . Between January 21 and January 27, 2003, defendants Brian and Scott Lines sold· 

or caused the sale of~ 59;300 shares of Sedona. on the open market at between approximately $9 

and $1'0 per share, yielding $1.5 million in illegal proceeds. These sales were 11,1ade without a 

registration statement in effect, and with no valid exemptions from registration. 

-3-



7. Defendant Ryan Leeds was the broker on the·LOM Ltd. account at the U.S. broker-

dealer through which defendants Brian ~ines, Scott Lines, ·and.LOM sold Sedona stock 

unlawfully into the U.S. market. Despite the existence of several ~ed flags, Leeds failed to 

conduct ~reasonable inquiry t~ determine whether LOM and the Lines brothers were engaged ni 
. . 

an illegal distribution of Sedona stock. 

8. . The Sedona scheme. collapsed on January 29,2003 when the -Commission 

suspended 'tnlding in Sedona securities. 

9. · In the separate, buts~, SHEP scheme, beginning in eru:Iy 2002, defendants 

Bnan Lines, Scott Lines, and LOM~ along with defendants Peever and Curtis, collaborated to 

secretly obtain control of a publicly-traded shell company, Inside Holdings Inc. ("IHI"), through 

the use of LOM-controlled nominees. The scheme involved merging IHI with a private 

company, SHEP Ltd., paying touters to promote the new llll/SHEP stock, and later selling their 

llD/SHEP stock into the ensuing·demand. 

10. Unlike ~e Sedona sch~e, the SHEP scheme came _to nearly complete fruition. 

Throughout the first half of2003, defendants Peever, Curtis, Brian Lines, and Scott Lines 

collectively sold over three million shares of llii/SHEP into the public demand created by the 

paid touters, generating approximately $4.3 million in illegal' proceeds. These sales were·made . . . . . 
without a registration statement in effect, and with ilo valid exe~ptioils from .registration. 

11. · Defendants Peever, Curtis, Brian Lines, and Scott 'Lines failed to report their 

TIII/SHEP purchases ·and sales in Commission filings, as they were .required to do, and defendant 

Brian Lines caused several false and misleading reports to be-filed with the Commission in an 

attempt to conceal that defendants Peever, Curtis, Brian Lines, and Scott Lines owned, and had 

been selling, their llii/S~P stock. 
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12. As.in the Sedona scheme, defendant Leeds was the broker on the I.:OM account at 

the U.S. broker-dealer through which defendants Brian Lines, ~cott Lines, and LOM·sold SHEP 

shares unlawfully into the U.S. market. Leeds failed to ·conduct a reasonable iD.qliliy to 

determ.iD.e whether LOM and fl?.e tines brothers were engaged in an illegal distnbution of SHEP · 

-securities. 

13. .The CommisSion seeks a judgment from the Court: (a) enjoining each defendant 

from engaging in the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of conduct alleged in this 

Complaint and transactions, acts, practices, and coi,JI'Ses of conduct of similar purport and object; 

· (b) requiring defendants to disgorge, wjth prej~dgment interest, the ille~ profits and proceeds. 

obtained as a result oft;lleir actions alleged herein; (c) requiring defendants to pay appropriate 

civil money penalties; (d) prohibi~g defendants Brian Lines, Scott Lines, LOM, Wile, Wayne 

Wile, Peever, Curt;is~ and Chapman from participating in penny stock offerings; (e) prohibiting 

Tony Wile from acting as an officer or director of any issuer. that has a class of securities 

registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act {15 U.S. C. § 7S1] or that is req~d to file 

reports pursuant to Section 15.(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78o(d)]; an~ (f) granting 

such other relief as this Court may deem just and appropriate. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

14. This Court has jurisdiction of this action pursuant to Sections 20 'and 22(a) ofthe 

·securities Act.of1933{15 U.S:C. §.§ 77t, 77v(a)], and Sections 20, 21(d), and 27 ofthe 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") (15 U.S.~. §§ 78t; 78u(d), and 78aa]. 

15. The defendants made use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce 

or of the mails in conn~ction with the acts, .practices, and courses ofbusiness alleged herein. 

-5 -· 



16. This Court properly has venue over this action pursuant to Section 22( a} of the 

Securities Act and Section 27 of the Exchange. Act [15 u'.S.C. _§§ 77v(a) and 78"aa] beeause 

certain of the conduct at issue occurred in the Southern District ofN ew York. 

THE PARTIES 

. 17. The plaintiff~s the Securities. and Exchange Commis~ion, which brings thiS civil 

action pursuant to authority conferred on it by Section 20(b) ofthe Securities· A.ct and Section 

21(d)(1) oftlie Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b) and 78u(d)(l)]. 

18. Defendant Bria.n N.·Lines, age 45, is a citizen and resident ofthe.overseas-tenitory 

of Bermuda of the United Kingdom. Brian Lines was the premdent and a·director ofLOM 

Holdings and its defendant subsidiaries until his resignation on July.l, 2005. . . . . 

19. Defendant Scott -G. S. Lines, age 43, is a citizen and reshlent of the overseas 

tenitory of Bermuda of the United Kingdom. Scott Lines is currently the president and chief 

:executive officer ofLOM Holdings and its defendant subsidiaries. During the relevant period, 

he held the title of Managing Director ofLOM Holdings and jts defendant subsidiaries. In his 

testimony before the Commission staff, Scott Lines aSserted the Fifth Amendment privilege · 

against ·self-:iricrimination as to all substantive questions. · 

20. Defendant LOM Holdings is the Bennuda~based parent of a group. of :financial . . . . 

services companies founded by.defendants Brian and Scott Lines and their f~ther, Donald Lines. 

LOM Holdings is majority-owned and controlled by Scott Lines, Donald Lines; and the Lines · 

family, and its stock is publicly ·traded on the-Bermuda Stock Exchange. ·LOM Holdings and its 

subsidiaries are collectively referred to herein as "tOM" or the "LOM Entities." · 

21. The following defendants are wholly-owned subsidiaries of LOM Holdings: ·LOM 

Capital, LOM's investment banking arm; L0!"1 B~rmuda, LOM's Bermuda-based broker-
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dealer; LOM Bahamas; LOM's Bahap1as-based broker-dealer;.LOM·Cayman, ·LOM's Cayman 

Islands-based broker-dealer; and LOM Ltd., LOM's admini~ative,. financial, and clearing 

operations. 

22. Defendant Anthony W. Wile, age 39, is a Canadian citizen .who resides in BOca 

Raton, Florida. Wile was Renaissance's founder, chainn8.n, and largest shareholder. In his 

testimony. before the Commission staff, Tony Wile asserted the Fifth Amendm.enfprivilege 

against self-incrimination as to all substantive questions . 

. ·23. Defendant Wayne E. Wile, age 63, is a Canadian citizen and a resident of the 
) . ' 

. . 
Cayman Islands, who also maintains a home in Scottsdale, Arizona. Wayne Wile is Tony Wile's 

uncle. In his testimony before the Commission staff, Wayne Wile asserted the Fifth Amendment · 

privilege against self-incrimination as to all substantive questions. 

24. Defendant Robert J. Chapman, age 72, resided in Punta Gorda, Florida during the 

relevant period. Chapman publishes The International F_orecaster, a subscription-based 

newsletter. Upon infonnation and belief, he currently resides in Mexico and continues to publish . . 

his newsletter through his website, www.theintemationalforecaster.com. 

25. Defendant William Todd Peever, age 48, resides in Vancouver. British Columbia 

and is a Canadian citizen and LOM client. 

26. Defendant· P-hillip' James ·curtis, age 47, resides in Vancouver, British Coltimbia 

and is a Canadian citizen and LOM client. 

27. Defendant Ryan G. Leeds, age 35., resides in Boca Raton, Florida. Leeds was a 

registered represent~tive with a U.S. broker-dealer through which LOM Ltd. traded Sedona and 

SHEP securities during th~ relevant .peJ;iods. Leeds was LOM Ltd.'s account represent~tiv.e at · 

that broker-dealer. 
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OTBERRELEVANTENTnciES 

28. Sedona Softwar-e Solutions, ·Inc. was, at all releyant times, a Nevada corporation 

based in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. During the relevant period, Sedona's stock was 

registered with. the Commission and was traded and quoted on the OTCBB under the ticker . . . 

· symbo~ ''SSSI." On January 29, 2003~ the Commission suspended trading iri Sedona securities 

for ten days. On J~e 30~ 2006, Sedona filed a Form 15 wi~ the Commission to terminate its· 

registration. 

29. Renaissance Mining Corporation, Inc. was a privately-held Delaware 

corporation with its headquarters in Boulder, Colorado during the relevant period. 

30. SHEP Technologies Inc.· is a public company with its headquarters in Vancouver, 

British Columbia, that owned intellectual jno~erty for a vehicle braking t~bnology. SHEP was 

formed in September 2002 through the reverse.merger of the privately-held SHEP Ltd. and . . · 

Inside Holdings, Inc., a public shell ci>mpany secretly controlled by Peever and Curtis. · SHEP's 

. stock is t'e~stered with the Commission and is quoted in the Pink Sheets under the symbol 

· "STLOF." SHEP's stock was quoted on the OTCBB during~erelevantperiod. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

I. THE LOM ENTITIES 

31. During the relevant period ofmid-2002 through mid-2003, the LOM Entities, 

Brian Lines, and Scott Lines conducted extensive, regular, and conti:ilUO'\lS-securities-related 

business in the U.S., and in the Southern District.ofNew York; through U.S. and New York

based brokerage, clearing, and trust companies with which'LOM maintained accounts or · 

conducted business. 
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EXHIBIT "G" 

HEPBURN HOLDINGS L TO. 
Mareva House, 4 George Street 

P.O. Box N3937, Nassau, Bahamas 

USD UNITED STATES DOLLARS- WIRE INSTRUCTIONS 

Bank Details: 

ABA Nuinber: 
SWIFT: 
Account Name: 
Account Number: · 

Beneficiary Bank: 

SWIFT: 
Account Name: 
Account Number: 
Reference: 

M 

0090-l.ZB [0l8) 

JP Morgan Chase 
4 Chase Metrotech Center 
New York, NY 
U.S.A. 
021 000 021 
CHASUS 33 
Bank of Butterfield 
0011067808 

Bank of NT Butterfield 
Hamilton 
Bermuda 
BNTBBMHM 
LOM Client Funds 
20.006.840.351501.100 
100 1790 -Hepburn Holdings Ltd. 

dsv:vo l.O Et unr 



BRIDGE STREET;" SERVICES LIMITED 

USD WIRE TRANSFER INSTRUCTIONS 

Correspondent Bank: 

Beneficiary Bank: 

HSBC Bank USA 
452 Fifth Avenue 
New Yorlc, NY 10018 
U.S.A. 

SWIFT Code: MRMDUS33 
FED ABA: 021001088 
CHIPS ABA: 0108 

The Bank of Bermuda Limited 
6 Front Street 
Hamilton HM 11 
Bermuda 

SWIFT Code: BBDA BMHM 

Beneficiary Account Number: 1010-956504 

Beneficiary Account Name: Bridge Street Services Limited 
Reference: Client and/or Company Name 



Bridge Street Services Limited 

Our ref: 8ULNN8G9/1236 

LOM securities ·(CaymwLbnitetJ. 
Buckingham Square, Penthouse 
P.O.Box30997S~ 
West Bay Road, SMB 
Cayman Islands 

' 

.. SJUishine:: Ltd~ . · .:-. . . . . . . .. . 

Description 

Professional Fees: 
2006 Corporate Administration Fee 

Marquee Place, Suite 300 
430 West Bay Road 

P.O. Box 30691 S:MB 
Grand Cayman 

Cayman Islands, BWI 

INVOICE 

01/11/2005 

usn sum 

2,500.00 

I Grand Total: usn 2,5oo.oo 

Invoice is payable upon receipt 
Please ensure prompt payrrzent on or before January 31, 2006 

to avoid penalty fees 



Bridge Street Services Limited 

Our ref: 8UML06T4/1374 

Ms. Devi JOHAL 
LOMr SecUrities. (Bermuda) thriited 
1i~-±.·o:rvf8iliiding · 
27 Reid Street 
Hamilton HM 11 
Bermuda 

Arch Ltd 

Description 

Professional Fees: 
2006 Corporate Administration Fee 

Marquee Place, Suite 300 
430 West Bay Road 

P.O. Box 30691 SMB 
Grand Cayman 

Cayman Islands, BWI 

INVOICE 

0111112005 

USDsum 

2,500.00 

I Grand Total: USD 2,500.00 

Invoice is payable upon receipt 
Please ensure prompt payment on or before January 31, 2006 

to avoid penalty fees 




